Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-15-2024 1:00 PM

Exploring the Lived Experiences of Women with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Madeline M. Dougherty, Western University

Supervisor: Sibbald, Shannon L., *The University of Western Ontario*A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Health and Rehabilitation Sciences

© Madeline M. Dougherty 2024

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Health Services Research Commons, Other Public Health Commons, Public Health Education and Promotion Commons, and the Women's Health Commons

Recommended Citation

Dougherty, Madeline M., "Exploring the Lived Experiences of Women with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease" (2024). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 10356. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/10356

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Currently, there are many barriers to women seeking diagnosis and treatment for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). These barriers include greater under-diagnosis and fewer medical consultations. Often thought of as a "male smoker's" disease, in the past decade there has been a sharp increase in the number of COPD cases in women. This research explored the lived experiences of women with COPD through diagnosis and treatment. This research used van Manen's hermeneutic phenomenological methodology guided by a critical theory paradigm. The results highlighted the experiences of women with COPD, what women want from their care, and recommendations to better support women's journeys with COPD. Without access to information and timely diagnosis, women with COPD are unable to improve their quality of life. By exploring the experiences of women with COPD, this research can help support the development of solutions to allow women to receive better support through their COPD journeys.

Keywords

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), Pulmonary rehabilitation, Provider, Phenomenology, Lived experiences, Critical theory, Women's health

Summary for Lay Audience

Currently, there are many barriers to women seeking diagnosis and treatment for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). These barriers include less diagnosis and less visits with a doctor, among others. COPD is a lifelong disease that affects the lungs and ability to breathe freely. This causes extreme discomfort and a lower quality of life. COPD can cause a recurring cough, breathlessness, and tiredness. There is no cure for COPD; treatments for the disease are used to manage symptoms. As such, the quality of life of a person living with COPD can depend on the care that is being received. Often thought of as a "male smoker's" disease, in the past decade there has been a sharp increase in the number of COPD cases in women. Despite limited research on the sex and gender differences surrounding COPD, there is no research that focuses on women's experiences through their diagnosis and treatment journeys.

Our study explored women's experiences through their diagnosis and treatment journeys. This research sought to understand these experiences and explore ways to improve their journeys. This was done by conducting one-on-one interviews with women with COPD to gain an understanding about their experiences directly from them.

The findings from this research highlighted different aspects that make up women's experiences living with COPD. Women in this study shared their stories and discussed ways their journey could have been improved. Participants expressed the desire to be understood by providers and treated holistically as ways to improve their diagnosis and treatment journeys. The importance of increased awareness and education to the public around COPD was emphasized. These topics can be used to create recommendations to better support women through their COPD journeys.

This study is timely and focuses on the experiences of women with COPD from women living it. Allowing them to use their voice and share what is important to their journey with COPD will allow us to better support women with similar experiences. It is important to share the voice of women with COPD in a space where it had previously been ignored, in the hopes to improve their journeys.

Authorship Statement

The primary researcher (MD) and Supervisor (SLS) designed the research project. Recruitment was completed by MD with support from SLS and the Lung Health Foundation. Data collection was completed by MD; MD conducted all interviews. All data was analyzed by MD and an additional research team member (Elvira Shah). MD drafted the thesis with feedback from SLS and the advisory committee.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to have been given this opportunity to pursue this research project and there are many people I would like to thank for supporting me through this process.

I'd like to start off by thanking every single one of my participants. Without your support, this research would truly not be possible. I will forever be grateful for the short time I was able to spend with each of you and the stories I was able to hear. You all have demonstrated incredible resilience and strength amid your journeys, and I admire all of you for that. I would like to extend a sincere thank you to everyone at the Lung Health Foundation who was able to get me into contact with my participants. As well, everyone over at the foundation providing crucial programs and support for those with various lung diseases, I have heard firsthand testimony from all of my participants regarding their appreciation for the foundation and all it does.

To my supervisor Dr. Shannon Sibbald, I could not thank you enough for the support and guidance you have provided me throughout this entire journey. I am so appreciative of all the opportunities you have provided me and the learning I was able to do under you. Everything I have learned I will take with me throughout my career whether that be in research or otherwise. I would also like to extend a thank you to the Sibbald Lab Team, many of you have supported and helped me through this journey and I look up to all of you.

To my committee Dr. Tara Mantler and Dr. Aleksandra Zecevic, thank you for all of your guidance and feedback on my project. You have both been a pleasure to work with and I thank you for the time and support you were able to give to me. I have been fortunate to be surrounded by many amazing women throughout my journey and you two are among them.

To all my friends that I have had throughout my undergraduate degree and master's degree at Western, thank you for always being there and supporting me throughout my academic career. Specifically, I would like to thank my best friends for being there for me through some of the toughest times I've had and providing me support no matter what. I truly would not be here without any of you and there is no amount of appreciation I can extend to show how important you all are to me.

Last but certainly not least, to my family, thank you for supporting me and cheering me on through this journey. Mom, Dad, and Bridget, I am beyond appreciative for everything you have all done for me and making this opportunity possible.

Table of Contents

Abstract		ii
Keywords		ii
Summary for	r lay audience	iii
Authorship s	tatement	iv
Acknowledg	ements	V
Table of con	tents	vii
List of tables	5	ix
List of apper	ndices	X
Chapter 1		1
Intro	duction	1
	1.1 Research questions and objectives	3
	1.2 Rationale	3
	1.3 Structure of thesis	4
Chapter 2		5
Litera	ature review	5
	2.1 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	5
	2.2 COPD diagnosis and treatment	7
	2.3 Experiences of living with COPD	11
	2.4 Gender considerations in COPD	12
	2.5 Gaps in the literature	14
	2.6 Summary	15
Chapter 3		16
Meth	ods and methodology	16
	3.1 Paradigm	16
	3.2 Methodology	17
	3.2.1 Recruitment	19
	3.3 Data collection	19
	3.3.1 Interviews	20

	3.4 Data analysis.	20
	3.4.1 Reflexivity	21
	3.4.2 Ethical considerations	22
	3.5 Quality criteria	23
	3.6 Summary	24
Chapter 4		25
Resu	ılts	25
	4.1 Demographics	25
	4.2 Experiences through diagnosis and treatment	27
	4.3 What women want from their COPD care	38
	4.4 Recommendations for better care for women with COPD	41
	4.5 Summary	42
Chapter 5		43
Disc	ussion	43
	5.1 Significant Findings	43
	5.2 Unique contributions to the literature	48
	5.3 Reflexivity	48
	5.4 Limitations	49
	5.5 Summary	50
Chapter 6		52
Sign	ificance and conclusions	52
	6.1 Implications for practice	52
	6.2 Implications for policy	52
	6.3 Recommendations for future research	53
	6.4 Conclusion	54
References		56
Appendices		66
Curriculum	viitoo	71

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant characteristics	25
Table 2. Objectives and theme descriptions	26
Table 3. Table of themes and subthemes (Appendix B)	70

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Interview guide		66
Appendix B: Table 3, table with themes and	subthemes	7 0

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

Currently, there are many barriers to women seeking diagnosis and treatment for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). These barriers include greater under-diagnosis, fewer medical consultations, fewer spirometry tests, and delayed diagnosis (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). COPD is a chronic disease that causes obstructions in the small airways of the lungs leading to extreme discomfort and decreased quality of life. Often thought of as a "male smoker's" disease, in the past decade there has been a sharp increase in the number of COPD cases in women (Townsend et al., 2012). A systematic review done in 2015 of worldwide COPD prevalence found 9.23% in men and 6.16% in women (Ntritsos et al., 2018). In 2018 the difference in North America between men and women was almost statistically insignificant at 8.07% in men and 7.30% in women, demonstrating the increase in COPD in women has come to almost equal the prevalence in men (Ntritsos et al., 2018). Albeit minimal, current literature explores the sex differences between males and females in terms of presentation and rates of diagnosis of COPD. A study by Silveyra et al. (2021), highlighted the differences between males and females in patients with COPD. The authors explained that females tend to develop COPD earlier in life and have more frequent exacerbations than males, which leads to more frequent hospitalizations (Silveyra et al., 2021). As well, it has been discovered that females are less likely to produce sputum when presenting with a cough (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). Despite these known sex differences in the presentation of COPD, little is known about women's experiences from their perspectives through their diagnosis and treatment journey.

COPD can cause a persistent cough with phlegm, persistent wheezing, breathlessness, and tiredness. There is no cure for COPD; treatments for the disease are used to manage symptoms and prevent exacerbations (World Health Organization, 2023). Exacerbations are defined as worsening symptoms like dyspnea, cough, or sputum over a 14-day period, this can be accompanied by tachypnea and/or tachycardia (Agusti et al., 2023). As such, the quality of life of a person living with COPD can vary greatly and depends on the care received (Townsend et al., 2012). To improve quality of life and experience with the health system, it is important to understand patients' experiences with their disease and the care they receive.

COPD is a multifaceted disease that affects the daily lives of those living with it (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019; Yohannes & Alexopoulos, 2014; Giacomini et al., 2012). Symptoms may be experienced more severely for some, depending on their medical history and other factors (Giacomini et al., 2012). COPD can negatively affect individuals' physical and psychosocial well-being (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). In the literature, individuals have described their physical limitations affecting their ability to participate with family and in social activities, to perform important activities to them, and a loss of energy in their daily lives (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). The effect on psychosocial well-being can involve relationships and social life, loss of freedom, and a fear of breathlessness (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). Many individuals have described being housebound to avoid triggers and the inability to participate in activities they once enjoyed (van der Meide, 2020). This creates isolation from others and an inability to keep up relationships (van der Meide, 2020). The literature on experiences with COPD does not account for gender considerations and how women may have different experiences. Given this, it is important to explore women's experiences in hopes of improving the quality of life of those with COPD through better care.

Quality of life of those with COPD depends on a variety of factors (Giacomini et al., 2012). There is research to show that the quality of life of women with COPD is more impacted and can look different than that of men (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). Women are more likely to experience more frequent exacerbations, delayed diagnosis, depression, and anxiety which all impact their quality of life (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019; Zysman & Raherison-Semjen, 2022). For example, COPD is an invisible disease without a proper diagnosis many women can have misunderstandings with family and friends which puts a strain on relationships (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). As well, without a diagnosis many women have to suffer with symptoms without proper treatment. Treatments for COPD are used to reduce exacerbations and improve symptoms, without proper treatment that is right for the patient there is risk for disease severity to increase. This highlights the importance of timely diagnosis and effective treatments to reduce exacerbations and improve the quality of life of women with COPD. This study will explore the experiences of women with COPD through the diagnosis and treatment process to help us understand ways to improve care and therefore improve quality of life.

1.1 Research Questions and Objectives

The goal of this research was to explore the experiences of women with COPD throughout their diagnosis and treatment journey. This research will be useful in supporting the development of solutions to allow women to receive better care for COPD. This research answered the following question: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD?

There were three objectives of this research:

- 1. Understand the experiences of women during the diagnosis and treatment of their disease,
- 2. Explore ways to improve women's experience with their COPD journey, and
- 3. Provide recommendations to better support women's journey with COPD.

1.2 Rationale

COPD is one of the leading causes of death among female smokers (Pirie et al., 2013; Thun et al., 2013). There is no cure for COPD, therefore timely treatment for COPD is important to prevent premature death, decrease hospitalizations, and minimize exacerbations (World Health Organization 2023). There are many barriers affecting women's abilities to receive a timely diagnosis and treatment (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). For decades COPD was understood as a "male's disease" (Townsend et al., 2012). Many of the symptoms recognized and treatments provided by physicians are based on this assumption. It is therefore important to explore care experiences of women living with COPD from their perspectives to better understand what can be done to improve their experience. To our knowledge, there have not been any studies that explore these experiences through qualitative methods. This study will provide women with a voice and share what is important to their journey with COPD. Ultimately, we hope this can be used to improve women's experiences with their COPD journey. This research will allow us to understand what better care can look like for women with COPD through their experiences and opinions and give us the ability to provide recommendations to better support women's journeys with COPD. Considering the growing effect of COPD on the aging population it is important to focus on improving the experience of COPD for individuals with the disease now and in the future.

1.3. Structure of thesis

The first chapter of this thesis was used to introduce the topic and describe the key issues explored. The second chapter provides an overview of the literature on the main issues considered in this research and presents the gaps in the literature. The third chapter discusses the methodology and methods used to guide this project and to analyze the data collected. In the fourth chapter, the findings from the analysis are presented. This chapter presents 10 themes. In chapter 5, the findings as they pertain to the research objectives and with the current literature are discussed. The final chapter discusses the implications for this research in practice and policy, future directions for research, and a summary of the research project.

Chapter 2

2 Literature Review

This chapter presents the literature that guided the research. The research question guiding this project is: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD?

This chapter starts off by describing COPD, its effects on society and its causes. Next, the diagnosis and treatment of COPD are presented. This chapter explores the sex and gender differences in the presentation, diagnosis, treatment, and experience of COPD throughout each section. I finish by discussing the implications of women and COPD and the current gaps in the literature and how my research aims to fill these gaps.

2.1 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a chronic disease that causes obstructions in the small airways of the lungs. COPD can cause a persistent cough with phlegm, persistent wheezing, dyspnea, and tiredness (Chapman et al., 2003; Agusti et al., 2023). COPD is defined in the literature as "a heterogeneous lung condition characterized by chronic respiratory symptoms (dyspnea, cough, expectoration, and/or exacerbations) due to abnormalities of the airways (bronchitis, bronchiolitis) and/or alveoli (emphysema) that cause persistent, often progressive, airflow obstruction" (Agusti et al. 2023, p. 1). These symptoms are due to abnormalities in the airways that cause airflow obstruction (Agusti et al. 2023). COPD is most often caused by gene-environment interactions that damage the small airways of the lungs, most commonly caused by inhalation of chemicals through smoking or factory work (Agusti et al. 2022). This leads to progressive lung function decline and inability to inhale and exhale completely (Rabe & Watz 2017; Agusti et al. 2023). The progression of symptoms often leads to exhaustion, low physical ability, and poor quality of life (Chapman et al., 2003; Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). Individuals with COPD have reported having to give up on regular physical activity, changing their lifestyles and feeling isolated from others (van der Meide et al., 2020).

There has been an increase of women with COPD in the last two decades (Silveyra et al., 2021), this emphasizes the importance to look at how COPD effects women, as previous research on the disease often excluded women (Barnes, 2016; Silveyra et al., 2021). Sex can be defined as biological differences between males and females in terms of chromosomal, hormonal, physiological, and anatomical features (Silveyra et al., 2021). These differences can be seen in the presentation of COPD, and the effectiveness of various treatments (Rogliani et al., 2022). A study by Silveyra et al. (2021), highlights the differences between males and females in patients with COPD. They explain that females tend to develop COPD earlier in life and have more frequent exacerbations than males, which leads to more frequent hospitalizations (Silveyra et al., 2021). One theory proposed by Silveyra et al. (2021), is that sex hormones may contribute to the susceptibility of COPD. They performed a study on mice exposed to cigarette smoke and found that the estrogen in female mice mediates a higher rate of peripheral airway obstruction which directly relates to the development of COPD (Silveyra, 2021). This indicated that female mice were at risk for worse airway obstructions when exposed to cigarette smoke and therefore higher rates of exacerbations and hospitalizations than males (Silverya et al., 2021).

It has been noted that females typically have thicker, smaller airways which can contribute to an increase in airway obstructions (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). As well, females are more likely to suffer from exacerbations due to this (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). Others have also found that females have different clinic-radiological phenotypes than males (Silverya et al., 2021). Phenotype affects COPD by presenting symptoms such as dyspnea or cough (Silverya et al., 2021). As well, they discovered that females are less likely to produce sputum when presenting with a cough (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019).

A distinct characteristic of COPD is exacerbation. Exacerbations can be defined as worsening symptoms like dyspnea, cough, or sputum over a 14-day period, this can be accompanied by tachypnea and/or tachycardia (Agusti et al., 2023). Along with the acute symptoms, exacerbations can cause severe exhaustion afterward that affects the quality of life of patients (Goërtz et al., 2018). Many patients reported their inability to leave their homes, socialize with others, and attend usual activities following an exacerbation (Goërtz et al., 2018). Increasing frequency of exacerbations can lead to poor lung function, decreased quality of life, and increased mortality (Ritchie & Wedzicha, 2020). Exacerbations are mainly caused by infections

or bacteria in the lungs that cause inflammation in the airways (Johns et al., 2014). Some individuals can be more susceptible to exacerbations if they have other comorbidities (such as heart failure, blindness, depression and pulmonary cancer) affecting their health (Westerik et al., 2017). Patients can be treated for exacerbations by their primary care doctor and, in more severe or urgent cases, the emergency department (Agusti et al., 2023; Ritchie & Wedzicha, 2020). Antibiotics and inhaled steroids can be prescribed by a primary care physician following a mild exacerbation (Viniol & Vogelmeier, 2018). If the exacerbation is more severe, emergency physicians will treat them with bronchodilators, corticosteroids and supplemental oxygen to promote breathing (Viniol & Vogelmeier, 2018). Exacerbations are important to describe as they can be frequent occurrence for those with COPD. As well, females tend to have more frequent exacerbations than males, which leads to more frequent hospitalizations (Silverya et al., 2021).

COPD frequency is increasing in North America and around the world. It is currently the third leading cause of death worldwide (World Health Organization, 2023). It is also one of the leading causes of death for women in the United States (World Health Organization, 2023). Furthermore, the number of deaths in 2019 was 30% higher than in 1990 globally (Li et al., 2023). The increase in cases has been documented specifically in women, previously the prevalence of COPD was lower in women than in men but recently this has now almost evened out in developed countries (Agusti et al., 2023). As well, a study done by Mannino et al. (2002) found that the death rates among women with COPD have increased in the 21st century and surpassed that of men in 2000 to present. COPD is on its way to becoming a global health crisis (Labonte et al., 2016; World Health Organization, 2022). A greater focus on and understanding of gender and its effects on COPD diagnosis and treatment is needed.

2.2 COPD Diagnosis and Treatment

There is no cure for COPD, therefore long-term treatment aims to decrease the frequency of exacerbations and hospital visits (World Health Organization, 2022). As such, the quality of life of a person living with COPD can vary greatly depending on the care that is accessible and received (Townsend et al., 2012). Often women experience a delay in diagnosis that disallows them from receiving early intervention for their COPD (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). There has also been research that presents the differences in effectiveness of treatments in males and females

(Rogliani et al., 2022). This gap in diagnosis and treatment decreases the quality of life of women with COPD. To improve quality of life and experience with the health system, it is important to look at the diagnosis and treatment process of COPD.

A COPD diagnosis is considered in patients with dyspnea, chronic cough, sputum, or a history of respiratory infections along with a history of smoking and/or other environmental factors (Agusti et al. 2023). If a patient presents with these symptoms and history, a spirometry test is needed to confirm the diagnosis (Agusti et al., 2023). This test is given via breathing tube to evaluate airflow obstruction and severity of COPD (Johns et al., 2014). This tests the forced expiratory volume (FEV) of a patient, this is how much air one can breathe in or out and how easy and fast it is to exhale all the air out of your lungs (Johns et al., 2014). If FEV is in a certain range (FEV=50-80%) the patient will be diagnosed with COPD (Johns et al., 2014), if the FEV is not below 80%, but the patient presents with the correct symptoms and history, another spirometry test will be given later (Agusti et al., 2023). Without a confirmed diagnosis, instances of acute disease may be misdiagnosed as other respiratory issues and may not be treated properly (Csikesz & Gartman, 2014). This can lead to frequent exacerbations, overall lung function decline and higher rates of mortality (Labonte et al., 2016). As well, early diagnosis is important to improve quality of life by extending the length of treatment received, allowing patients to improve their breathing with inhalers and exercises and decrease the frequency of exacerbations (Csikes & Gartman, 2014).

Women have been underdiagnosed (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019), received fewer spirometry tests and fewer medical consultations. In a study done by Gut-Gobert et al. (2019), both women and men were asked about their care and treatment of COPD. Women reported feeling like they had a delay in their diagnosis more than men reported a delay. This study also found that women were more likely to receive a differential diagnosis of bronchitis or pneumonia. The author posits this could be due to the reporting of symptoms from women such as fatigue and depression which may lead physicians to steer away from COPD as a diagnosis as these are not typical symptoms seen in men. As well, Chapman et al. (2001) speaks about the differences in care coming from a gender bias upheld by many physicians. This study was done by surveying physicians about diagnosing anonymous cases and suggesting follow-up diagnostic tests. The results of the study found that COPD was the most probable diagnosis more often for men than women (58% vs.

42% respectively). After a spirometry test was requested and abnormal results were retrieved, the differences between diagnosis of COPD for men and women lessened but were still present at 74% vs. 66%, respectively (Chapman et al., 2001). Asthma was a more likely differential diagnosis for women than men. Their findings strongly suggest an implicit gender bias in the diagnosis of COPD. As there is no cure for COPD, the goal of treatment is immediate relief of symptoms and to improve quality of life over time (Postma et al., 2011; World Health Organization, 2023). Many publications state that smoking cessation is arguably the most important intervention for patients with COPD, and will be the first recommendation (Agusti et al., 2023). There is evidence that smoking cessation reduces lung function decline at any stage of COPD, however, the greatest impact can be seen through early intervention (Welte et al., 2015). There are gender considerations to keep in mind when talking about smoking cessation. Women with COPD are significantly more likely to have anxiety and depression than men (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). This affects smoking cessation as it becomes more difficult when faced with these psychological issues. This is something that should be taken into consideration when treating women verse men.

The next recommendation is usually inhaled therapy (Agusti et al., 2023). Inhalers can be used to provide immediate relief from bouts of coughing and dyspnea or for daily use to improve symptoms over time (Agusti et al., 2023). The choice and compatibility of an inhaler is important for effectiveness and relief of symptoms. As well, regularly assessing the effectiveness and compatibility of the inhaler ensures continued relief of symptoms (Agusti et al., 2023). This assessment can be done by a primary care physician or respirologist, ensuring continued relief as it matches the inhaler to the patient (Agusti et al., 2023). Patients can be prescribed inhalers for daily use, typically anticholinergic and inhalers for emergencies (rescue inhaler), typically betaagonists (Agusti et al., 2023). There is also evidence that the use of inhaled therapy through long-acting bronchodilators at early intervention can slow the progression of lung function decline (Welte et al., 2015). However, a study done by Rogliani et al. (2022), looked at how multiple treatments for asthma and COPD affected males and females differently. They did a systematic review of sex-related differences in the effectiveness of various treatments for COPD. From their research, they found that many therapies' effectiveness was different by sex. Specifically, one studies pre-clinical findings were that inhaled corticosteroids were less effective in the females in the study than the males. Overall, 28% of the evidence across the

studies reported that males responded better to all COPD treatments than females (Rogliani et al., 2022). Rogliani et al. (2022), postulate that this is likely due to the differences in pathophysiology between males and females. The treatments that currently exist for COPD are generally based on a 'male model' and do not account for these differences in anatomy (Rogliani et al., 2022). The authors conclude by explaining that there is such a lack of research being done with female verse male patients that it is hard to tell, but the preliminary findings suggest a difference in effectiveness of treatments (Rogliani et al., 2022).

Other lifestyle changes like increasing physical activity can have a positive effect on symptoms, however, it can be difficult for patients to maintain this once the disease progresses to a severe level (Spruit et al., 2016). This is because many exercises cause fatigue and breathlessness in patients who already experience these symptoms caused by their COPD and therefore can make it difficult to complete (Spruit et al., 2016). Other non-pharmacological treatments include vaccinations for influenza, RSV, and pneumonia, pulmonary rehabilitation, oxygen therapy and ventilation support for more severe patients (Agusti et al., 2023). The literature highlights the importance of early interventions mentioned above to improve quality of life and slow the progression of the disease (Welte et al., 2015; Ramsey & Sullivan, 2004; Sun & Zhou, 2019). Many studies have shown that early intervention can allow individuals to reduce their symptoms thus improving their quality of life earlier (Welte et al., 2015; Ramsey & Sullivan, 2004; Sun & Zhou, 2019). As well, early interventions have been shown to have a greater impact on lung function and reduction of symptoms (Welte et al., 2015). Considering this, it is important to take into consideration the potential delay in diagnosis and the sex differences in the effectiveness of treatment when creating practice guidelines for COPD. By doing this, women will have access to early interventions to improve their quality of life and prevent frequent exacerbations where they may not have previously.

A sign of disease progression is frequent exacerbations (Halpin et al., 2012), which can be treated by a family physician or in the emergency department depending on the severity of the exacerbation and diagnosis of other comorbidities (Agusti et al., 2023). In the ER, patients with hypoxemia (a low level of oxygen in the blood) (Kent et al., 2011) will receive oxygen and may be admitted for further monitoring of symptoms (Agusti et al., 2023). Patients with an acute exacerbation will also be given inhaled bronchodilators to improve air flow, as well as

corticosteroids and antibiotics if presenting with increased sputum and dyspnea (Sagana et al., 2022). Depending on severity of the exacerbation, patients may be admitted to hospital for further treatment or discharged once symptoms alleviate (Sagana et al., 2022). In terms of gender, women are more likely to have frequent exacerbations than men (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). According to the literature this is likely due to the higher frequency of anxiety and depression in women which is a risk factor for frequent exacerbations (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). Others, discuss that females have a higher sensitivity to smoke and therefore a higher severity of COPD and FEV1 decline is more rapid in women than men (Tashkin et al., 1996; Silveyra et al., 2021).

2.3 Experience of Living with COPD

COPD is a multifaceted disease that affects the daily lives of those living with it (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019, Yohannes & Alexopoulos, 2014, Giacomini et al., 2012). Symptoms may be experienced more severely and therefore quality of life varies among patients and depends on a variety of elements (Giacomini et al., 2012). COPD can negatively affect individuals' physical and psychosocial well-being (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). The effect on psychosocial well-being can involve relationships and social life, loss of freedom, and a fear of breathlessness (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). In the literature, individuals have described their physical limitations affecting their ability to participate with family and in social activities, to perform treasured activities to them, and a loss of energy in their daily lives (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). This all causes a negative psychosocial well-being. Participants in a study by Sigurgeirsdottir et al., (2019) cite a positive mindset, accepting help, a healthy lifestyle, and continued professional help as important to them and their well-being (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019).

COPD patients also experience breathlessness which had a physical effect on their wellbeing (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019, Yohannes & Alexopoulos, 2014, Giacomini et al., 2012). This is facilitated by other COPD symptoms such as dyspnea, increased mucus production, and frequent coughing fits (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). This is a common symptom shared by individuals with COPD that reduces their ability to participate in daily life (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). Often individuals will need help completing tasks they once found easy (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019). The inability to complete these tasks on their own can cause feelings of frustration and

anger towards their disease and situation (Giacomini et al., 2012). Also, the fear of breathlessness can cause anxiety and depression that last throughout the progression of the disease (Sigurgeirsdottir et al., 2019).

Anxiety and depression are common among individuals with COPD, they may suffer for reasons beyond the fear of breathlessness (Yohannes & Alexopoulos, 2014). This can come from the sadness and vulnerability felt due to the change in lifestyle and participation in previously enjoyable activities (Giacomini et al., 2012). As well, anxiety can be caused by the panic over breathlessness, ending up in hospital, having an exacerbation, or death and the progression of their disease (Giacomini et al., 2012). Despite the high prevalence of these mental health issues, especially in women with COPD, it is estimated that less than 1/3rd of those suffering are receiving appropriate treatment for mental health (Yohannes & Alexopoulos, 2014). Some reasons for this cited in the literature are a lack of knowledge and reluctance to receive treatment, a lack of standard diagnostic processes, and a scarcity of resources for mental health (Yohannes & Alexopoulos, 2014, Giacomini et al., 2012). As mentioned previously, women with COPD are more likely to suffer from depression and anxiety and have a reduced quality of life (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). However, there is a lack of literature on their specific experiences seeking treatment and support for their mental health.

With an emphasis on care and providers we can see in the literature that individuals with COPD often describe poor relationships with their healthcare providers (Giacomini et al., 2012). Participants in this study have explained they felt hastiness, poor listening, and a lack of compassion from providers (Giacomini et al., 2012). Other issues participants discussed about their provider was a focus on objective health outcomes; many explained they felt their suffering seemed invisible to their provider due to this (Giacomini et al., 2012). In terms of patient experience, studies have found that women reported less frequently than men that their doctors were sympathetic to their COPD and potential diagnosis (Martinez et al., 2012). Despite these experiences, women rated their overall satisfaction with care similar to men (Martinez et al., 2012). However, there is a lack of literature on experiences with COPD specific to women. This study will remove this gap in the literature by sharing the experiences with COPD of the women interviewed.

2.4 Gender Considerations in COPD

Sex is the biological characteristics that distinguish males and females (Silveyra et al., 2021). The literature explores the differences in biological characteristics that affect COPD through the presence of different symptoms, severity and frequency of exacerbations, and outcomes and hospitalisations. While sex refers to our biological characteristics, gender refers to the characteristics society uses to distinguish between masculine and feminine traits. These include social, cultural, behavioural, and environmental factors that impact one's identity (Silveyra et al., 2021). Sex and gender are related in healthcare as the sex differences we see between males and females can lead to social changes in the way those who are female presenting are diagnosed and treated. There is a severe lack of research on sex and gender considerations for the implementation of chronic disease management within primary care (Rogliani et al., 2022). Given the increase of COPD in women in the last two decades, we are moving away from the idea that COPD is a "white man's" disease. There has also been an increase in deaths of COPD in women compared to men (Agusti et al., 2023). This is likely due to an increased use of tobacco in women and changes in occupational hazards exposed to women. Due to changes in sex and gender roles and more single parent households in recent years, a larger number of women are found with industry jobs that expose them to occupational hazards (Blanc et al., 2009). In a study done by Sadhra et al. (2017), they found jobs such as furnace installation and construction increased the risk of COPD by 22% from vapors, gases, dusts, and fumes. Also, in developing countries, there are links to biomass fuels in homes and COPD in individuals who have never smoked (Blanc et al., 2009). This may increase the rate of COPD in women as they are more likely to be spending time at home in the kitchen in developing countries (Blanc et al., 2009). Women with COPD are often misdiagnosed and disproportionally suffer from comorbid conditions, including anxiety and depression (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). Although there is a clear increase in cases in women presented in the literature, the practice of diagnosing and treating women has not changed. Symptoms women are more likely to report (fatigue and depression) are still not considered in a COPD diagnosis (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). As well, treatment for COPD is the same for men and women despite earlier demonstration that effectiveness might be different (Rogliani et al., 2022). Therefore, physicians should consider COPD in the differential diagnosis of women with pulmonary symptoms, regardless of tobacco or pollutant exposure histories. Women also reported more difficulties than men when trying to reach their primary care doctor, and the time spent with their provider to be insufficient. Women were more likely

than men to obtain information about the disease, diagnosis, and treatment from outside sources such as support groups and online resources. Conversely, Men were more likely than women to obtain information from their providers than to do outside research.

The sex differences between males and females found in the literature in the presentation of COPD and treatment options have been outlined. The scholarship in this area indicates that there are differences, and they should be considered when diagnosing and treating COPD. This can be done by considering a wider array of symptoms, such as fatigue and depression, when diagnosing women. As well, assessing different treatments with the patient to ensure individual effectiveness. It is then outlined that many women (gender identity) experience a delay in diagnosis and therefore treatment. The mention of sex is important as in previous decades COPD was only recognized and researched in males. This translates now to how women are treated and diagnosed (whether they are female or not) because they present a certain way and therefore physicians who may have bias from previous history of the disease would treat them differently than men. This is likely why we are seeing increased misdiagnosis in women and lack of effective treatment (Chapman et al., 2001).

2.5 Gaps in the Literature

This literature has guided the exploration of the research question: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD?

The objectives of the study are to 1) Understand the experiences of women during the diagnosis and treatment of their disease, 2) Explore ways to improve women's experience with their COPD journey, and 3) Provide recommendations to better support women's journey with COPD. Research has been undertaken on the sex and potential gender differences that need to be considered in COPD care, however, the literature lacks insights into women's experiences with diagnosis and treatment. This includes experiences with getting a diagnosis, interacting with their providers, support, and effective treatments. Despite an overall awareness of the differences in symptoms and prognosis for females and quality of life for women, it is undetermined how these have influenced care experiences for women with COPD. With the increase in COPD cases and

deaths in women, it is important to elicit these experiences to further improve care and move towards equity within the healthcare system.

This study will look at these experiences and what better care looks like to women with COPD. There is also a lack of input in COPD practice guidelines and policies from women concerning their experience with COPD and what is important to them. Sex and gender considerations for the implementation of care for COPD are severely lacking in the literature and women's voices are missing. This increases the gap in care for women with COPD and further propagates a gender bias from physicians in their care circle.

2.6 Summary

This chapter summarized the topics important to understanding this thesis and the background for conducting this research. These topics include the presentation and symptoms of COPD and its epidemiology, the diagnosis and treatment of COPD, the sex differences in the presentation and effectiveness of treatment, and the gender considerations in COPD. This chapter demonstrated that there is a need to explore the experiences of patients, specifically women with an aim to improving support for women through their COPD journey.

Chapter 3

3 Methods and Methodology

In this chapter, I outline the paradigm and methodology that was chosen for my research study (Sections 3.1 and 3.2). I provide details on the data collection and participant recruitment (3.2.1 and 3.3) and outline my guiding criteria for quality used throughout my research (3.5). This chapter describes the process used to answer the overall research question: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD?

3.1 Paradigm

Paradigm represents the way individuals view the world and reality; it is important to identify a paradigm when producing qualitative research before choosing a methodology (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). There are three questions that can be asked to guide when choosing a paradigm: 1) ontology, 2) epistemology, and 3) methodology (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Ontology has to do with the nature of reality and being, epistemology is about the relationship between the researcher and the participant, and methodology looks at how the researcher can go about investigating a topic (Ponterotto, 2005). In choosing a paradigm I had to think about these three questions and my values and beliefs on the political, educational, social, and health systems in our society. A critical theory paradigm, described below, was chosen to guide this research. My beliefs that our experiences are shaped by structures in power align strongly with this paradigm. Ponterotto (2005), describes critical theory as being one in which researcher's values are central to the purpose and methods of research.

A critical theory paradigm assumes that reality is shaped by various structural forces that can determine an individual's thinking and behaviour (Paradis et al., 2020). These forces include social, political, cultural, economic, ethnic, and gender constructs. This paradigm assumes that these forces present themselves unconsciously in an individual (Paradis et al., 2020). Critical theory acknowledges that due to these forces there is no objective reality and that individuals will experience events differently based on these forces (Kincheloe et al., 2017). Critical theory

is an effective choice for this research as this research looks directly at the gender constructs that effect the care received by women with COPD.

With the use of critical theory, the bias that has previously occurred in the diagnosis and treatment of COPD of women can be explored. A critical theory paradigm acknowledges the structures that oppress women, shaping their experiences such as, economic, political, and social (Aranda, 2017). By looking at this research through this paradigm the experience of being a woman with COPD can be explored based on these structures. Critical theory allows a critique of social structures that shape and challenge women going through the diagnosis and treatment process (Kincheloe et al., 2017). As well, acknowledge gender roles and their effect on the individual realities of people (Paradis et al., 2020). Exploring the experience of women with COPD through a critical theory paradigm allows us to look at the structures at play that may be shaping the way women are receiving COPD care.

3.2 Methodology

Critical theory uses a dialogic/dialectic transaction of inquiry, emphasizing the importance of a dialogue between the researcher and the participant to investigate a specific topic (Ponterro, 2005). This can be represented in many forms of qualitative research, but a phenomenological methodology was chosen to conduct my study. This methodology looks at the rigourous description of a phenomenon of interest. Phenomenology was chosen because the focus of this research is on experiences of living with COPD as a woman.

There are many different philosophers known for exploring and practicing phenomenology; Husserl, Heidegger, Merleu Ponty, Gadamer etc. (Dowling, 2007). Max van Manen developed a hermeneutic approach that combines the objectivist and alethic circle to acknowledge the experience of a phenomenon as a whole experience and the researcher's role in the research process. He does not share Husserl's view of bracketing and asks: "If we simply try to forget or ignore what we already "know," we might find that the presupposition persistently creeps back into our reflections" (van Manen, 1997 pg. 39). Instead, he wants the researcher to make explicit their understandings, beliefs, and assumptions. This is done not to try and forget these assumptions, but to hold them at bay and challenge this knowledge. The knowledge we already

have will be challenged once we learn more about a phenomenon from someone living it (van Manen, 1997).

The goal of this phenomenology is to transform the lived experience into a textual expression of its essence, in such a way that the meaning of the text represents a reviving reflection and a reflexive appropriation of something significant. The reflexive appropriation is a way to guide action and challenge what we already know about a phenomenon from an outside perspective (Boström et al., 2017). When we are living our daily lives, we often do not stop and dwell on what is happening and how we feel about it (van Manen, 1997). Phenomenology allows us to explore the experiences we live through to describe where the reader can grasp the nature and significance of this phenomenon (van Manen, 1997).

This type of hermeneutic phenomenology was chosen because van Manen describes it as a human science approach that combines the description of an experience with an interpretation of it (Dowling, 2007). This allowed me to describe the experience of being a woman with COPD and receiving care as described by those living it. I then could interpret this description with a critical theory lens. A critical theory lens was used to challenge the structures present in today's healthcare system. These structures overlook women's experiences as being important or different from that of a man. As mentioned above, van Manen does not include bracketing, defined as removing your own bias and opinions from the research and welcomes the preunderstanding one has of a phenomenon (van Manen, 1997). This falls in line with critical theory methodologies that use researcher's values and biases to affect the research process (Ponterotto, 2005).

Max van Manen's approach to hermeneutic phenomenology involved first orienting oneself to the phenomenon. He suggests that having a deep interest in a topic will allow one to choose a phenomenon to explore (van Manen, 1997). I have chosen the phenomenon of women living with COPD through the diagnosis and treatment journey. To orient oneself implies not just an interest, but also station or vantage point in life (van Manen, 1997). Therefore, my orientation is that I am a woman researcher pursuing a master's degree, interested in COPD care. This is because I have a distant, but dear family member living with COPD who had issues receiving a diagnosis and subsequent treatment. Their issues arose at the beginning of their COPD journey, three years ago, they have since received effective treatment and continue to live with COPD.

One of the goals of my research was to explore and challenge these pre-assumptions, but not forget that they are there and are meaningful to me as a knowledge co-creator in this phenomenological approach.

3.2.1 Recruitment

Recruitment was done through the Lung Health Foundation, beginning late December 2023 once ethics had been approved. The Lung Health Foundation is an organization that supports and empowers individuals living with lung disease. They have community initiatives, educational programs, and research. The Lung Health Foundation has supported the development of 10 support groups across Ontario that I was able to contact. I connected with the director of community programs and partnerships at the foundation; the foundation maintains a list of individuals willing to participate in research projects. The director emailed our recruitment email to this list of individuals. The recruitment email was sent out to approximately 80 individuals. My goal was to recruit 8-12 participants. A sample size of 8-12 was chosen based on experts in the qualitative research field and recommendations by van Manen for phenomenology. Van Manen suggests for a phenomenological study to use anywhere between 3-25 participants, depending on the phenomenon being studied (van Manen, 1997). Other experts in qualitative research such as Ray (1994) recommend 6-12 participants for a phenomenological study. This is similar to Creswell's (1998) and Marshall et al.'s recommendations (2013), who all agree to any number between 6-12. The inclusion criteria for my study were: identify as a woman, have been diagnosed with COPD for at least one year and undergone any form of treatment (such as inhalers, steroids, respiratory therapy, and pulmonary rehabilitation). All participants were given \$15 gift cards for their participation in an interview.

3.3 Data Collection

Critical theory emphasizes a dialectic approach that involves a conversation about the systems that affect one's lived experience (Ponterotto, 2005). In keeping with critical theory methodologies, data collection had to involve direct interaction with participants.

Phenomenology requires in-depth inquiry into everyone's experiences. To understand how gender factors into the care being received by women with COPD in depth inquiry into the

experiences through the diagnosis and treatment process of women living with COPD was required.

3.3.1 Interviews

One-on-one semi-structured interviews were conducted to gather narratives. Interviews lasted between 20-75 minutes and were done over the phone or on a video call, each participant was interviewed once. A semi-structured format was used to guide the interviews. This allowed for flexibility and open conversation between the interviewer and participant while focusing the interview on the experience of women with COPD. In developing an interview guide I used three types of questioning as outlined by Bevan (2014) in their article on interviewing for phenomenological description. These included descriptive/narrative questions such as "Describe the story of your diagnosis. Describe the events that led up to it and the actual diagnosis itself." Descriptive and structural questions such as: "Tell me about your COPD treatment." Lastly, imaginative variation such as: "Describe changes you would have made to your care." These types of questions allowed the participant to describe the full extent of the phenomenon which made it clear for me to understand (Bevan, 2014). In addition to these types of questions, demographic questions were asked at the beginning of every interview. These included: age, years since diagnosis, and whether the participant was a smoker or not (see Appendix A for the interview guide). The interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim by me.

3.4 Data Analysis

Thematic analysis as described by van Manen involves reflecting on the essential themes that characterize the phenomenon (van Manen, 1990). Thematic analysis is a flexible way of interpreting data in relation to, in my case, a participant's lived experience with a particular phenomenon. van Manen's thematic analysis was used to interpret data. There are three approaches to his analysis: the wholistic approach, selective reading approach, and detailed reading approach (van Manen, 1997). I chose the selective reading approach because it allowed me to focus on sentences or phrases that seemed particularly essential or revealing about the experience of women living with COPD. These phrases were chosen based on the importance they held to the participant and their experience. This approach involved reading and re-reading the transcripts from my interviews several times, this step is called immersion. The practice of

immersion is suggested by van Manen in phenomenological research to be able to better understand the experiences described and what matters most to the participants regarding their COPD diagnosis and treatment. The method of immersion can be seen in other researchers' work who have used van Manen's phenomenology, such as Chen et al., 2020 and Van der Meide, 2020. During the immersion phase I took notes on emerging ideas and points emphasized by participants.

After completing immersion, all transcripts (100%) were inductively coded using line-by-line coding; a second research team member (master's student) coded two transcripts (17%). We met to discuss initial thoughts, findings, and codes; codes were merged and reduced from 250 to 75. Two more transcripts were coded with the new coding scheme. A preliminary codebook with definitions and examples was created; four of the transcripts (33%) were re-coded to examine the applicability of the codebook. The coded transcripts and codebook were reviewed by the project primary investigator (PI; Sibbald). The research team met to discuss and refine the themes and subthemes; a new iteration of the codebook was created. This version of the codebook was reviewed by the three senior researchers on my thesis advisory committee. This was crucial as we discussed the importance of the themes and ways to fit the topics I felt important to participants within my objectives. All 12 transcripts were then coded a final time, deductively using the codebook. In total, all transcripts were coded three times to solidify themes and ensure the experience was captured fully as described by participants.

The next step to this approach was to isolate thematic statements during my reading, this was done by asking myself "what statements or phrases seem particularly essential or revealing about the phenomenon or experience being described" (van Manen, 1997, p. 93). These statements were highlighted in the text. The last step was to create phenomenological text based on the common themes that make up the experience of living with COPD through diagnosis and treatment as a woman. Van Manen suggests four conditions to guide this writing. The text needs to be oriented, strong, rich, and deep (van Manen, 1997). This final step of analysis represented a more sophisticated understanding of the data through continual interaction with the data and the reflection and description of what it means to be a woman living with COPD through their diagnosis and treatment journey.

3.4.1 Reflexivity

Self-reflexivity is the ability of a researcher to be honest with their feelings and beliefs about the research being conducted (Tracy, 2010). There are many ways to go about reflexivity when doing phenomenology. Van Manen highlights the importance of one's experiences and pre-understanding with a specific phenomenon. He suggests acknowledging this and letting it guide one's research. "If we simply try to forget or ignore what we already "know," we might find that the presupposition persistently creeps back into our reflections" (van Manen, 1997). He suggests orienting oneself with the phenomenon and acknowledging the assumptions and bias one has of a topic and why it is meaningful to them (van Manen, 1997).

As mentioned previously, I have a relative whom has COPD and had difficulty receiving a diagnosis and subsequent treatment at the beginning of her journey. This was the motivation for my research into the experiences of women with COPD through their diagnosis and treatment journey. After hearing her story and doing research into the sex and gender considerations for COPD, I felt frustrated about the care experiences of women with COPD. I also felt frustration towards the lack of literature and women's voices on these experiences. This motivated me to explore this further to learn from their experience and in doing so to synthesize recommendations to improve care. The lack of women's voices in the literature made me want to share these voices.

By acknowledging my assumptions and motivation for my research I was able to understand the lens in which I could question participants and analyze their responses. Reflexivity is an important aspect of qualitative research especially when interacting directly with participants as it allows for bias to be acknowledged and used in the research (Tracy, 2010). I practiced reflexivity by keeping a reflexive journal throughout the data collection and analysis process. Recording my thoughts and influences helped me increase sincerity and therefore rigor in my work (Tracy, 2010). This insight authenticated and humanized my pursuit of knowledge to increase transparency of the research.

3.4.2 Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (HSREB), protocol #123287. Participants were provided with an LOI that explained the study before collecting signed consent forms. All interviews were audio-recorded with consent from participants.

3.5 Quality Criteria

It is important to exercise approaches to qualitative research that promote and enhance its quality (Tracy, 2010). To do this, Tracy's eight "big tent" criteria was used, these are: 1) worthy topic, 2) rich rigour, 3) sincerity, 4) credibility, 5) resonance, 6) significant contribution, 7) ethics, and 8) meaningful coherence.

The topic I have chosen has proven to be a worthy topic based on the timeliness of it, there has been a rise in cases and deaths of COPD in women in the last two decades (Agusti et al., 2023), this study allowed me to investigate what it is like to live with COPD as a woman and be able to report these experiences to improve care for women. Tracy outlines that a worthy topic can arise from timely societal events. This is a gap in the literature and has been for cardiovascular and other respiratory diseases. Promoting rich rigour according to Tracy involves choosing an appropriate method for the question and a sample size that follows this. A sample size of 8-12 was chosen based on experts in the qualitative research field and recommendations by van Manen for phenomenology. Van Manen suggests for a phenomenological study to use anywhere between 3-25 participants, depending on the phenomenon being studied (van Manen, 1997). Other experts in qualitative research such as Ray (1994) recommend 6-12 participants for a phenomenological study. This is similar to Creswell's (1998) and Marshall et al.'s recommendations (2013), who all agree to any number between 6-12. From my research into phenomenology and my decision to use specifically van Manen's hermeneutic phenomenology to explore the lived experiences of my participants, I have chosen a method that allows me to look at my research question effectively. Throughout my research I have kept a reflexive journal that allowed me to be honest and transparent about my thoughts, feelings, and bias before and during this process. This promotes sincerity in my research as described by Tracy by having notions of authenticity and genuineness. By participating in phenomenological writing as the product of my research I have created a thick description of the experiences lived by my participants. One of the most important ways to promote credibility is through thick description (Tracy, 2010) which can be seen in my phenomenological writing in the details and nuances I have provided about my topic.

While phenomenology often provides a rich description of a particular experience of interest, there are themes that arose from my research that can be transferred to the care of other chronic diseases and other experiences faced by women in the healthcare system. The systems that effect women in society do not stop at the diagnosis and treatment of COPD but can be seen in all aspects of life (Gupta et al., 2023). Highlighting this transferability aids my research in promoting resonance as described by Tracy. Significant contribution, as suggested by Schwandt (1996), proposes that good quality research supplements the probing of social problems this is outlined by Tracy to promote this quality criteria. This research adds methodological significance by using phenomenology to explore the lived experiences of women with COPD. This method is not often used when talking about the differences in care between men and women, a quantitative approach is typically seen in the literature.

This study received ethics approval by Western's Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (Study ID #123287). This is an example of procedural ethics, following a set procedure created by a governing board to ensure ethical research. Procedural ethics promotes not only ethical criteria, by following these procedures, but also leads to more credible data (Tracy, 2010). Lastly, I was able to enhance my research using meaningful coherence, used to meaningfully connect the literature and findings to the objectives and research question. This was done by conducting data collection and analysis that achieved my stated purpose and used methods that accompany critical theory and my research question well (Tracy, 2010).

3.6 Summary

This chapter discussed the rationale behind the methodology and paradigm chosen for this study. The most effective approach for this study was to follow van Manen's hermeneutic phenomenological approach guided by a critical theory paradigm because it allowed for the exploration of experiences of women with COPD and the political, educational, social, and health systems that interact to create these experiences. This methodology allowed interpretation of these experiences and described them as a phenomenon (van Manen, 1990).

Chapter 4

4 Results

In this chapter, the findings from the data collected from one-on-one semi-structured interviews are presented. This chapter starts off by outlining the characteristics of the participants interviewed (Section 4.1). I then describe the main findings from the interviews. The results are presented in accordance with the research objectives (Sections 4.2, 4.3, 4.4), presented through themes and subthemes. The study results address the three main objectives of the study that answer the research question: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD?

4.1 Demographics

A recruitment email was sent out to 80 individuals, of which 16 responses were received (20%) and 12 consented to be interviewed (response rate = 15%). All participants had been diagnosed with COPD for at least one year and were currently receiving treatment. Their ages ranged from 62-87 (median age was 75.5). The average time since diagnosis of COPD was 9.75 years (median of 10 years). Sixty six percent (n=9) smoked prior to their diagnosis. Demographic information is presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Participant Characteristics

Participant Characteristics	N
Age (years)	
60-69	1 (8%)
70-74	2 (17%)
75-79	6 (50%)
80-84	2 (17%)
85-89	1 (8%)
Years since diagnosis	
1-4	3 (25%)
5-9	3 (25%)
10-14	4 (33%)
15-19	1 (8%)

20-24	1 (8%)
Smoking history	
Smoker	9 (66%)
Non-smoker	3 (33%)
Total	12

The results are presented according to the three objectives set out at the beginning of this study. Through the coding process, 10 themes and 25 subthemes were formed (see table 2 for a summary and appendix B for full table). The three objectives were: 1) Understand the experiences of women during the diagnosis and treatment of their disease, 2) Explore ways to improve women's experience with their COPD journey, and 3) Provide recommendations to better support women's journey with COPD.

Throughout this chapter participant's providers are referenced. 'Provider' includes any healthcare professional that interacted with the participant (family doctor, respiratory therapist, hospital staff, clinic staff, and nurses). Most participants referenced their provider as their family doctor, however in some cases respiratory therapists and other specialists were referred to.

Table 2: Objectives and theme descriptions

Objectives	Theme	Description
1. Experiences through	Waiting and wondering	Descriptions of diagnosis
diagnosis and		experience, including the
treatment		time before the diagnosis.
	Seeking information	Participants' interaction with
		information about COPD in
		general and their disease and
		prognosis, including a lack
		of information.
	Adjusting to the disease	Adjustments after receiving
		COPD diagnosis. Acts of
		resilience, feelings of blame
		and stigma about COPD.
	Interacting with providers	Participants descriptions of
		their experiences with their

		Adapting daily life	provider. Including their engagement, changes to treatment, and perceptions of their provider's priorities. Descriptions of participants' daily life with COPD.
		Navigating the system	Participants' feelings towards the current healthcare system and its failures towards patients.
2.	What women want from their COPD care	To be understood by providers	Participants' descriptions of what they want from their provider.
		To be treated holistically	Participants' descriptions of what they want from their treatment plan.
3.	Recommendations for better care for women with COPD	Improving awareness around COPD	Participants' concerns over a lack of awareness around COPD from their friends, family, providers, and the public.
		Educating the public on COPD	Participant's emphasis on education surrounding COPD for themselves and the public.

4.2 Experiences through diagnosis and treatment

The first objective explored was experiences through diagnosis and treatment; all the women interviewed have unique experiences of diagnosis and treatment, but there are similarities that make up the phenomenon of living with COPD, these include: 1) waiting and wondering, 2) seeking information, 3) adjusting to the disease, 4) interacting with providers, 5) adapting daily life, and 6) navigating the system.

Waiting and wondering

Experiencing the diagnosis was described in many ways, however there were two main points in time (subthemes) that women in this study commonly experienced challenges pre-diagnosis and during diagnosis.

The time before the diagnosis was described by some participants as a time they knew was coming. Participants described noticing symptoms related to COPD, but being diagnosed with another similar disease, such as bronchitis, asthma, and heart issues, prior to their COPD diagnosis.

But in 2017 when I came [to Florida] I had bronchitis again and the doctor said every year you're going to come here in Florida you're going to get bronchitis, because of the change of weather, because the north is cold and the change of weather. (Participant 4)

Along with a differential diagnosis some participants described having symptoms such as "heart palpitations", "worsening breathing", and "emphysema on an x-ray" overlooked by providers and not spoken about until years later when a diagnosis was made. A couple of participants had either overlooked symptoms by hospital/clinic staff or worsening breathing coupled with years of smoking and had been waiting for an official diagnosis from a doctor for years.

Oh, just what I said before, the diagnosis took a long time...even when I knew it might be coming. Maybe if they had diagnosed me sooner, I wouldn't have been suffering from the breathing problems for so long. (Participant 1)

Following pre-diagnosis, participants described their experiences during diagnosis, who provided the diagnosis, the steps that followed, and how it felt to hear the words "you have COPD". Many participants had feelings of "surprise" or "shock" following the diagnosis. Even though some felt they knew it was coming, it was still a shock to be told the official diagnosis from a doctor. Participant 4 who was diagnosed for years with bronchitis recalled the experience of how her doctor told her she had COPD; "My family doctor in August of 2017, he told me I had COPD stage 2 and that's all he said." (Participant 4)

Many participants had heard of COPD prior to their diagnosis but did not know much more about it.

Basically, he called me and... said: "Oh you have COPD" and I've heard of COPD, but it didn't click...and it was left at that, and I haven't had any follow up from him...it freaked me out a little bit, the big diagnosis and then the not knowing anything.

(Participant 2)

This interaction left participants feeling confused and unsure of how to proceed following the diagnosis. Participants highlighted the enormity of a diagnosis like this and the "*lacking*" feeling some participants felt from their diagnosis experience.

Seeking information

Many participants were not sure whose role it was to provide them with information or if they were supposed to do the research themselves. These experiences included information about COPD in general, their own disease and prognosis, outside programs and support, and lifestyle changes. Participants experienced information seeking in three ways (subthemes): 1) lack of information provided, 2) doing your own research, and 3) receiving information.

Many women felt they were not provided with enough or any information regarding COPD and their disease. Learning about their own disease was important to participants. Many explained they did not know what stage they were at or how their disease would progress over time; "Ya just learning about COPD. I never got information from my doctor when I was diagnosed. And I feel like sometimes I don't really know what's going on with my disease and progression." (Participant 2)

The lack of information was expressed by participants at follow-up appointments, and at the hospital following a discharge; "Then I was discharged with no discharge instructions at all...I felt like I was missing a lot." (Participant 1)

The lack of information left participants feeling "frustrated" and "lost" about where to go from there and in what ways they could make their lives better despite the disease. The lack of information was an added burden as participants had to resort to doing their own research in a landscape (the internet) where not everything you read may be true.

So, I don't know, maybe it's the fact that I was not a part of anything at the beginning like the rehab or the Westpark program. I do wish my doctor gave me some information, because before [these programs] I was feeling hopeless and confused. (Participant 8)

Participants described doing their own research when they felt they were not getting enough from their provider, or they wanted to know everything possible. This research included learning about the symptoms and progression of COPD, alternative treatments, and organizations that provide support for those diagnosed with the disease.

The Lung Health foundation is great, and they have been amazing, but I found them after, through my own research, and it would be great for that to be available for everyone.

(Participant 6)

Even when they found the information they were looking for, they acknowledged that not everyone has access and resources to find it. While doing their own research, participants acknowledged the amount of misinformation on the internet and how they navigated it to find what they need and believe is reliable.

Well, my best source of knowledge is YouTube, honestly... There are so many respiratory groups there that you can follow and learn new things from, and you know you sort out whether it's valid or not [information] but lots of times there are little nuggets of information that are helpful. (Participant 12)

This research has provided them with "confidence" and "relief". This has also allowed them to find support groups and lung health activities where they can meet more people and gain information from professionals and other patients going through similar experiences at these groups and activities.

On the other side, participants described experiences in which they received information from their provider, outside sources such as pulmonary rehabilitation centers, and other lung health organizations. Participants were referred to some of these activities and organizations by their providers (family doctor or respiratory therapist). In some cases, participants described their providers as being thorough and forthcoming with results; "He really sent me to the hospital [following breathing problems], and I did get a follow up and my family doctor gave me all the results [from pulmonary tests] and explained them to me." (Participant 11)

A large source of information for participants was through their pulmonary rehabilitation program. Not only were they able to get information from other individuals with COPD, but also from the clinicians. Participant 4 who has been a part of a pulmonary rehabilitation program several times described her experience there:

When I came back, I went one more time to the rehab center and I really liked it because they do a lot of exercises, they have machines, there's a track, and there's classes, also, where we get more information. So, I enjoyed that, to learn how to breathe properly, how to use your inhaler properly, and also just for support. (Participant 4)

Participants described feeling a sense of control over the disease through learning ways to handle coughing fits and mitigate symptoms, such as breathlessness and fatigue.

Adjusting to the disease

After receiving a chronic disease diagnosis, participants had to adjust to a new reality. The theme of adjusting to the disease encompassed participants' descriptions of their experiences after diagnosis and how they continued living their lives despite life altering news. This adjustment came in all forms and was encompassed by two subthemes: 1) resilience and 2) blame and stigma.

Resilience described the women's ability to live with their COPD diagnosis and continue living despite it. All the women have described showing and discussed resilience and agreed that resilience is a huge aspect to a better quality of life. The words "keep going" were used frequently in reference to continuing to live their lives after the COPD diagnosis; "It was a bit scary, but I decided that I just had to keep going..." (Participant 8)

A lot of these women found "happiness" and "joy" in their lives either through continuing to do the things they love or finding new passions and activities to replace ones they may not be able to do anymore. Another aspect of resilience was living and doing things "despite" the disease. Participant 9, who was diagnosed almost 20 years ago, described her experience being told her prognosis; "I asked how long I could expect to live, and he said about 10 years or so. And that was almost 20 years ago, so, you know...I'm doing pretty well despite my COPD." (Participant 9)

The positive attitudes expressed by many participants despite what they are going through demonstrate this theme of resilience.

Blame and stigma came up across interviews in two different ways. Women described either blaming themselves for having COPD and the life choices they made or experiencing others blaming them based on the stigma around smoking and lung disease. Since most participants were long time smokers they were not surprised when they received this diagnosis. They admitted to feeling blame towards themselves for smoking for so many years.

I have to admit I did not take very good care of my health; I was a smoker for years, I have not smoked in 6 years and...it's just all coming to a head, and I know that. I'm not blaming anybody but myself. (Participant 1)

Participants experienced many varieties of stigma around COPD and its attributes. This stigma came from family and friends, providers (anyone giving care to participants), and strangers at the store. This stigma has a lot to do with how you end up with COPD and the blame that comes with a smoking addiction and lung disease. Experiencing this stigma only hurt participants and in the cases of those who never smoked was wrong; "No there's just a stigma around COPD that we brought it on ourselves... and you're just not treated well because of it." (Participant 3)

As well, multiple women described thoughts and feelings that come with being put on oxygen. This is a step participants described that many had to take in later stages of the disease, many talked about doing everything to avoid oxygen and the feelings they had when they did have to eventually go on it. The word "shame" came up in reference to being put on oxygen. Participants described using oxygen as a loss of control over their disease. They also talked about how it changed the way others looked at and thought of them. Often feeling more frail because of the oxygen, despite how much it can help "And, sometimes you have to keep struggling to keep that independence because I think people sometimes underestimate [us]. They see it as a limiting thing (COPD)." (Participant 12)

Interacting with providers

Throughout living with COPD, participants talked about all the doctors and nurses they've had to interact with, which comes with treating a chronic disease. Some experiences were negative, and some were positive. Participants described their experiences with their providers in multiple

ways which can be divided into these four subthemes: 1) engagement from provider, 2) different priorities, 3) advocacy, and 4) changes to treatment.

Engagement from providers captures participants' experiences with providers whether positive or negative. Some participants described not feeling heard by providers and being "ignored"; "So, I was in the emergency ward, no pain, no nothing, all I felt was pressure on my chest. Right? They didn't even acknowledge it [pressure in chest]. I kept saying that and nobody picked up on it." (Participant 2)

Participant 3 described the reaction her respirologist had, who was in denial about her concerns over side effects of a particular treatment.

The very first respirologist I had got very upset with me and said his medications don't cause side effects and yada yada yada. Just completely disregarding and ignoring my problems. (Participant 3)

Others had opposite experiences, describing their providers as "thorough", "detail oriented", "caring", and "respectful".

She was so thorough, so detailed, so patient. Oh god and then I had her again during the last of the pandemic and she was fantastic, oh everything under the sun, the best doctor I've had in my entire life. (Participant 7)

While these are completely different experiences, participants agreed on the importance of their relationship with their provider and how it impacted their feelings towards their disease.

In speaking about the experiences participants had with their providers, many spoke of the perception that their providers had different motivations or priorities than them. Participants described that their goals sometimes differed from that of the provider, and they did not necessarily see eye to eye on treatment options. Participants emphasized the importance of having the same priorities as the provider. Participant 8 shared her experience with previous doctors that thought oxygen and a lung transplant were the best options for her. She did not agree with this and explained finding a new doctor that was more in line with her desires:

And I think the doctors that I have now are quite in line and they're quite specific. They agree with me, with my goal to keep off oxygen and no lung transplants. They actually

listen sometimes. I had problems with that before, with my other doctors, they wanted something different for me. (Participant 8)

Other participants described feeling unprioritized by their providers. They described their providers as "being busy" or "not having time for them", "overlooking symptoms" or "concerns", and "not placing importance on their patient."

Ya I mean just because a lot felt like it was passed over you know [symptoms prior to diagnosis]? They did see something in my chest and just overlooked it. (Participant 2)

This impacted not only the relationship with their providers, but their feelings towards themselves, the disease and its effect on their feelings of worth.

Feeling unprioritized by providers also affected patients' motivations and trust. Often participants described feeling they needed to advocate for themselves to make sure they were getting the proper treatment and that nothing was being overlooked; "Sometimes it feels like even the doctors, even the ones I like, no one is there just for you, it is up to you to advocate and get information..." (Participant 8)

Two participants described experiences in which they were continuously sick or were having repeat exacerbations. Their providers would continue to prescribe antibiotics to solve this issue. It was not until they advocated to get more testing done that they found out the underlying issue and were able to solve it permanently. Participants emphasized the importance of advocating for yourself with the fear that if they had not advocated, nothing would have changed, and they may have still been in that "endless cycle".

And I think in May I said to him, I'm doing everything I can to try and be well and I don't understand why I can't seem to get any better... So, he had me take this test. And that's when they found out about this other A chroma that was in my lungs and then he talked to the respirologist and then made a referral to him and so that started the process of me being on a nebulizer with the antibiotics... I just sort of feel like we were going to still be on the path of you know, rounds of antibiotics if I hadn't said anything. (Participant 9)

Participants wanted other women to understand the importance of advocacy and to know that you must speak up for yourself in any situation where you feel something might be wrong;

"but...I do find you have to advocate for yourself...Because if you don't ask, the doctor won't tell you anything." (Participant 4)

Participants explained they have had multiple changes to their treatment since they were diagnosed. Participants described a few reasons for these changes, one being their personal experiences with the inhalers or antibiotics they were prescribed. Some participants said they were experiencing side effects from their inhalers and spoke to their doctors about changing them; "I have a different respirologist now. And she just switched my prescription [inhaler]. Because nothing had ever been done for the side effects I was feeling." (Participant 10)

Another reason for a change in treatment was due to their lifestyle, often participants were prescribed a daily inhaler upon diagnosis. Some were then prescribed another inhaler to be used when they were exercising, if this was an important aspect of their life. Participant 7 who loves hiking described her experience; "Ya, it was after I was talking to him about if I should be hiking you know with this (COPD), and he gave it to me at that point (rescue inhaler)." (Participant 7)

Participants who have had COPD for multiple years talked about getting treatment that was new or updated and that their doctors kept up with the evolving landscape of COPD treatments; "As new inhalers came out then they would get changed. And some inhalers were better than others and I'm sure it's a personal thing." (Participant 1)

This was a positive experience that participants talked about in relation to a connection with their provider and feeling they were receiving personalized care. Some participants also talked about this in relation to being listened to by their providers concerning their experiences with different treatments.

Adapting daily life

Participants all agreed that COPD is a very difficult disease to live with and that their daily lives changed drastically when they started having symptoms or were diagnosed. Many aspects of their daily life were described and encompassed in the subthemes: 1) breathlessness, 2) forced lifestyle change, and 3) mental health.

Breathlessness is a central concept to the experience of COPD described by participants, as it profoundly affects daily life. How participants were affected by it came up in all interviews.

Participants described "heavy breathing", "a difficult time breathing", and "not being able to catch my breath" as things that encompass breathlessness. Many explained not being able to participate in activities they otherwise would, due to breathlessness; "...grocery shopping I can't do anymore, I go online and order it. I can't walk those floors of the grocery store and I get out of breath right away." (Participant 1)

Many participants stated that as their disease got worse, so did their breathing. Often explaining that every day was different that "some days are better than others", this greatly impacted their plans for the day; "Yes, my breathing's not as good today. I don't know until I wake up in the morning whether I'm going to have a good day or a bad day." (Participant 11)

Breathlessness often precipitated a forced lifestyle change. Participants described having to change their routines and activities. Some described participating in workouts for those with COPD, which is not something they previously did. The biggest lifestyle change of course was quitting smoking. Participant 6 who smoked heavily during difficult times in her life described her experience trying to quit smoking after her diagnosis:

I couldn't quit smoking right away. I just tried like 15 times to go cold turkey...And, I cut down. Like cut down to one cigarette every couple of days. And so, it was gradual. And then I stayed at about five cigarettes for a long time. So, those are the changes that I had to make. (Participant 6)

Not only were leisure activities affected by participants' COPD, but their work life as well. Participant 8 who previously worked in a dental office described having to stop working due to her COPD and the risk COVID-19 posed; "You know, (...) I couldn't work anymore because of COVID and my diagnosis." (Participant 8)

Participants did not welcome lifestyle changes, but many described understanding why things had to change. Participants also described their feelings towards these lifestyle changes and how they affected their overall mental health.

The lifestyle changes had a significant impact on participants' mental health. This was a topic that came up a lot throughout interviews and the impact of COPD in general on mental health. Receiving a diagnosis, changing their lifestyle, and the change to social life all impacted mental health. Many described depression and anxiety as huge changes to their mental health following

their diagnosis. They also spoke about how they think this is common among individuals with COPD due to the lifestyle changes and impacts on their social life; "It was (...) depression, anxiety those are things that are huge with us, just when you can't breathe nothing else matters." (Participant 3)

Feelings of "isolation" and "loneliness" were also mentioned, especially if they felt their family and friends did not understand what they were going through or why they had to pull back socially; "You know it's scary and lonely and it doesn't help your COPD much if you feel that way" (Participant 5)

Navigating the system

There were a lot of negative experiences that the women felt were in correlation with the system and the system not providing enough or what they thought was enough. Participants described broadly their worries that the healthcare system in Ontario is failing patients and providers. Many talked about feeling neglected in the ER and a lack of time when meeting with their providers. They linked this to the system overall. While this wasn't the case for all participants, some did feel for the providers who are having to work through burnout and being overwhelmed, and that there really is nothing that can be done (that's what they think/feel). Words like "falling down", "broken", and "missing" were all used to describe the current healthcare system and the failures participants experienced; "I just think the whole system is falling down and missing a lot." (Participant 1); "So that's our medical system. It's broken...Our system is broken and has been broken for a long time." (Participant 11)

Accompanying these thoughts were feelings of frustration; "That it's the government and the system [causing these problems with care] so none of us are really sure but a lot of us are very frustrated at the way the system is." (Participant 3)

The frustration towards the healthcare system was referenced a lot when speaking about negative experiences, especially in hospitals. Many participants had compassion and understanding for providers having to work through burnout and being overwhelmed and placed no blame on them for the outcomes they experienced. More specifically, women who did not have a primary care provider expressed feelings of frustration towards receiving care through walk in clinics.

I haven't been able to get a family doctor, so I go to a clinic which are very good, but you see different doctors every time you go. They don't know your history and as I said they're very good, but they're limited so that's how I get my inhalers and that's about it from them. (Participant 1)

4.3 What women want from their COPD care

The second objective explored what women believed the best care for COPD is to them. This objective encompassed themes that emerged about what is important to participant's care that they did not already experience or have only experienced with some providers. There is overlap with subthemes from the first objective because what the women in this study discussed wanting is based off the experiences they had and how they want to improve their experience. This is divided into the following themes: 1) to be understood by providers and 2) to be treated holistically. Appendix B shows these themes and their subthemes.

To be understood by providers

Many women had different experiences with doctors, nurses, and other hospital staff, going through this helped them to realize what is important to them and what they want the experience with their provider to be if everything were to go right or if they were to have the most optimal care. The subthemes presented under this theme represent the wants and expectations of participants in this study, of care. These subthemes are: 1) proactive information sharing and 2) acknowledgement of needs.

Many participants felt it was the job of their provider to inform them on COPD and their disease, prognosis, and treatment options. Many women felt that a sit-down discussion with their provider would have been helpful to make them feel more confident about their experience and how to move forward; "(...) I would have liked him (provider) to do a follow up just sit me down with a little education about it [COPD]." (Participant 2)

They expressed that if they did not get information from an outside source, they would have been missing a lot. Participants felt this was something they needed more of and something all patients should have access to. Participant 4, who had the ability to go to a rehabilitation center and learn from the professionals there. She described the importance of the information she learned and how not everyone would receive that:

Because I find that something that is lacking (...) like when the doctor tells you ok, you have this [COPD] if he doesn't send you to a rehab center (...) I don't know how people would know how to stop those coughing fits... (Participant 4)

Participants outlined the reason information is so important is to ultimately help them manage their disease which can change the quality of life of someone with COPD.

And it's because any information and new knowledge that we can get to people helps people to manage and deal with things better even if it's something (...) as simple as making sure that you regularly do your medication, so that you regularly do these things can be real game changers for people. (Participant 12)

Another reason information is important is it helps participants to feel confident about moving forward in their disease and that they would be doing everything they can to improve their lives and the progression of the disease.

Participants felt they were not being heard; they felt they were being treated in a way they did not like. Overall, what many of them wanted was to feel "important", "prioritized", "respected", and "heard"; "Everyone should treat you like a person not just your disease and it's nice to get paid attention to" (Participant 2)

Participants described wanting these things in relation to past experiences with providers and how well they were treated by them.

She was so thorough, so detailed, so patient. Oh god and then I had her again during the last of the pandemic and she was fantastic oh everything under the sun, the best doctor I've had in my entire life. She treated me like a person, like I'm her friend and that's what I want. (Participant 7)

The participants in this study do not think these requests are out of the realm of possibility and believe this is what everyone should experience with their providers.

To be treated holistically

Participants also described what they would want from their treatment plans to feel more supported and engaged in their COPD diagnosis and treatment. This was divided into two subthemes: 1) enhanced confidence and 2) wrap around support.

Wanting to be involved in their treatment plan was something that came up in relation to feeling confident about their treatment and moving forward with their diagnosis. This was expressed through a need to talk about their treatment plan. Many women described the process of receiving treatment as their provider prescribing them inhalers with no discussion or explanation of what they received or any other options. Participants would have liked to feel included through at least a discussion of what they are receiving and what changes to expect; "(...) to discuss my treatment plan with my doctor." (Participant 2)

Following those experiences of being prescribed treatments participants also wanted something more personalized. They acknowledged that everyone is different, and some treatments work better for others, so a personalized plan is important; "I think that we need more personalized care and have someone to talk to on a personal level that understands that everyone is different." (Participant 10)

In line with personalized care, participants described being referred to pulmonary rehabilitation and activity programs that their providers think would work best for them.

In reference to their mental health, participants emphasized their desire for mental health support whether it be from their provider directly or an outside source. Integrating this into treatment was a desire that was expressed because they already have a relationship with their provider and believe they know them enough to be able to refer them to someone reputable or provide some support themselves; "And I think in terms of mental help, like I wish my doctor noticed that or it was part of my treatment." (Participant 5)

Participants talked about how it can be difficult to ask for help for their mental health, they said they would have felt less alone or burdened if their mental health was discussed right from the beginning.

Along with mental health support, it was expressed that support of any kind from a provider was important for the participants' well-being. This was mentioned in relation to quitting smoking, which was the first suggestion providers made to participants, but that support wasn't there to help them act on it; "Even from doctors, like support from doctors to quit smoking and not blame patients." (Participant 9)

Many participants spoke about pulmonary rehabilitation and lung health programs that they think are extremely important to find support and that everyone should have this available to them. Support groups are also very wanted in terms of treatment by participants; "A support group also, because I find somebody that is stage 3 or 4 that is scary you know, and a lot of women are alone and having people already there [at that stage] would put me at ease." (Participant 4)

Many participants wished they were referred to a support group by their provider as they did not feel they had the capacity or knowledge to do it on their own.

4.4 Recommendations for better care for women with COPD

The third objective explored what participants in the study felt were important topics to improve care for all women with COPD. These topics (subthemes) are the basis for developing recommendations to improve COPD care. The themes presented are: 1) improving awareness around COPD and 2) educating the public on COPD.

Participants uniformly believed that there is a lack of awareness around COPD leading to barriers to treatment and care and poorer experience overall. Many talked about their own lack of knowledge and the lack of knowledge and awareness from family and friends.

Very hard for people to understand. Because people seeing you, they see me in a wheelchair and it's like, what are you doing in a wheelchair?... I mean, they think that's just because I'm on oxygen, well, no, it's way more than that. (Participant 10)

They also spoke about public awareness and the need to increase it to destignatize COPD and take the blame from patients. These thoughts were often expressed in comparison to other diseases that are more widely known and funded.

It's sort of like I wish; you know they talk about dementia. That's mainstream too. And everybody is up in arms about dementia. And it's true, it's a big thing. It's a big thing. But so is this [COPD]. (Participant 9)

Participants noted an awareness of initiatives surrounding other cardiovascular diseases and its effects on women and how the same attention is not paid to COPD, despite a similar history.

Participants believed that improved education for the public would enhance their overall experience. This was stressed by participants in relation to the public and to providers on COPD, symptoms, prognosis, treatment, and women. Participant 12 described her life as an educator and the value she places on education in everyday life:

So, Because I'm an educator from my career. I just think the more you know the better it is. And you know, you learn so much more about the progression of the disease. And also, strategies to help you to manage it (Participant 12)

Another participant described a campaign for lung cancer and her desire to see something similar to educate the public on the stigma of COPD:

I just wish, I think, the Lung Health Foundation at one point tried to have a little campaign, but I think it died. So, someone said they had lung cancer. Usually, the first question the other person will say was, did you smoke? Which is a blame the victim question, right?... And, in their campaign, you know, "ask the right question or something". So, something similar for COPD would be helpful. (Participant 9)

Lastly, participants explained the importance of education for their ability to advocate for themselves; "but uh I do find you have to advocate for yourself and that is something that education would help..." (Participant 4)

4.5 Summary

The goal of this research was to explore the lived experiences of women with COPD through their diagnosis and treatment and understand what they believe would improve their experiences with the hopes of providing recommendations for better support throughout their journeys. A total of 12 participants consented to participate in the study. 10 themes emerged from the analysis under the three objectives set out at the beginning of this study. This chapter summarized those themes. In the next chapter, I will discuss important findings in relation to the current literature and how this study adds to it.

Chapter 5

5 Discussion

The purpose of this research was to answer the question: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD? There were three main objectives used to answer this question: 1) Understand the experiences of women during the diagnosis and treatment of their disease, 2) Explore ways to improve women's experience with their COPD journey, and 3) Provide recommendations to better support women's journey with COPD.

This chapter begins by discussing each of the research objectives as they pertain to the findings (Section 5.1). This discussion is supported by the literature and explored through the themes and subthemes that emerged during the analysis. Then I move on to discuss how the findings from this study add to the literature (Section 5.2). Consistent with van Manen's hermeneutic phenomenology, I discuss my use of a reflexive journal (Section 5.3). The chapter finishes with the potential limitations of the study (Section 5.4).

5.1 Significant Findings

The women interviewed provided stories that gave significant insight into their experience of living with COPD. These women come from a variety of backgrounds and have different motivations for participating in this research, therefore the findings represent a variety of experiences. Within the experience of living with COPD an important aspect is the diagnosis. The diagnosis of COPD allows patients to feel control over their disease and to be able to put a name and reason to their symptoms (Lindgren, 2014). This was highlighted by participants when explaining their experience being diagnosed. Many women described a long waiting period where they experienced symptoms such as breathlessness and coughing before being diagnosed, this is common to COPD patients, in particular women (Arne, 2007). Participants in this study talked about experiencing symptoms for years prior and how this made them feel frustrated and

lost during this period. The minimal literature surrounding COPD diagnosis lacks the exploration of this waiting period, therefore the expression of these feelings adds new insight into the experience during this period. After a period of waiting the diagnosis of COPD can still come as a shock and can be scary to patients who are unfamiliar with the disease and its progression (Lindgren, 2014). Many participants in this study echoed these thoughts and feelings when describing their diagnosis story.

Consistent with the literature on experiencing COPD the women in this study described experiencing blame and stigma towards their disease (Halding et al., 2011; Berger et al., 2011). This blame came from friends, family, and providers. This is common in patients with lung diseases that trace back to smoking because many people believe they are self-inflicted (Halding et al., 2011). Along with the stigmatization of COPD in general comes the stigma of using supplemental oxygen. In a study done by Earnst (2002), the author describes adherence to supplemental oxygen in COPD patients being affected by shame or stigma. The women in this study described similar experiences of avoiding supplemental oxygen as much as possible. In previous studies this was described as general shame towards using oxygen and did not take into consideration how gender might play a role (Arne et al., 2007). In our study the women specifically talked about using oxygen as synonymous with looking and feeling frail and incapable by others, these experiences were not expressed in previous studies.

The findings highlighted the importance of receiving information to the participants surrounding COPD. To our knowledge, there is no literature on women's experiences receiving information for their COPD from providers. In our study participants described feelings of frustration and fear with the lack of information they were given about COPD in general and the progression of their disease. Receiving information from providers can improve the patient-provider relationship and increase confidence with disease management (Mills & Sullivan, 1999; Husson et al., 2011). Many women talked about turning to their pulmonary rehabilitation (PR) programs to provide missing information and support. In recent years there has been a lot of positive literature on the benefits of PR to patients with COPD (Lamberton & Mosher, 2024). Studies have shown a decrease in hospital readmissions, improvement in exercise capacity, and quality of life (Lamberton & Mosher, 2024, Moore et al., 2016). However, there are issues with access to PR programs (Alwakeel et al., 2022). This was experienced by some participants in this study

who live in more remote areas and are not able to get to the closest PR clinic to them. A couple of women also said they were not referred to a rehabilitation clinic until they asked their providers about it. These findings emphasize a large gap between the best care for COPD and what is being received. This study also adds to the literature the importance of PR programs as described by patient's experiences.

The women in this study also talked about their experiences with their providers. Since COPD is a chronic disease that often involves interacting with different providers consistently this engagement is central to their experience. Consistent with the literature the women in this study reported having a hard time contacting their provider (Martinez et al., 2012). They also felt they were not of priority to them. In addition, our study found that participants felt they were not being heard or listened to by their providers and other hospital staff regarding their symptoms or concerns of treatment side effects. This can be seen in other studies on women and their provider experiences with chronic pain and in primary care (Johansson, 1996; Werner & Malterud, 2003; Mcrae 2018). When patients have more positive experiences with their physicians it can greatly improve relationships and disease management (Tabler et al., 2014). Women in this study demonstrated that their positive experiences which included feeling respected and prioritized by providers made them feel more confident about their disease and their relationship with their provider. Having this positive relationship allowed them to feel more comfortable advocating for themselves and to talk about changes to treatment. These findings add to the literature around positive and negative experiences with providers from women with COPD.

The second objective aimed to explore ways to improve women's experience with their COPD journey. As mentioned, lack of information played a large role in the experience of women living with COPD, therefore an important ask for better care was to be provided with more information. Receiving information from providers is important to fostering a relationship of trust with patients (Tang & Newcomb, 1998). This was echoed by participants in that they would feel more confident in their providers if they were given more information about COPD and their disease. It became apparent that many participants did not receive what they felt was enough information from their providers and often had to look to outside sources to fill knowledge gaps. Selfmanagement is a large part of living with COPD and without important information this can be very difficult (Simpson & Jones, 2013). We can see a lack of information surrounding COPD by

patients is an issue in the literature (Wong et al., 2014). The women interviewed in our study want more information about COPD and their disease progression, there is an opportunity here for providers to connect patients with community support. This could provide more information and improve patient's experiences.

Another way to improve their care experience highlighted by participants was enhancing involvement in their treatment plans. It is important for patients to be involved in their treatment plans for COPD because their physical activity levels, history of exacerbations, lung function, and symptoms are all taken into consideration (Lopez-Campo et al., 2014). Many participants expressed their interest in being more involved in creating a treatment plan, specifically that they felt they knew their body best and would be able to provide valuable input to their providers. Creating a treatment plan also involves patient and provider goals for the progression of the disease. Goal alignment is important to a plan and can make patients feel their input is being taken into consideration, however, this is something that is often missing from patient experiences (Giacomini et al., 2012), which was echoed by the women in this study. They recognize the importance of being involved in their treatment plan and want that from their care. This involvement can facilitate a better relationship between patients and providers and avoid issues with treatment adherence.

Support was emphasized heavily by participants in this study because of its importance to managing a chronic disease. Having support is important to allow patients to improve their quality of life and manage their symptoms (Stoilkova-Hartmann et al., 2018; Gardener et al., 2018). There are many domains in which support is needed for an individual living with COPD (Gardner et al., 2018). The women in this study specifically asked for more mental health support. Many of them talked about their struggles with depression and anxiety which is common in women with COPD (Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). Many participants wished this support was included in their treatment as they have already built a rapport with their providers and trust them to provide it themselves or connect them with support available in the community. Another aspect highlighted was support groups. While they do exist, participants described a hard time finding a support group near them that they felt comfortable being a part of. The support of others with COPD is an important aspect to improving quality of life and disease awareness (Gardener et al., 2018). This provides another opportunity for providers to connect patients to

support groups, given they are equipped with more knowledge about what is available in the community.

The third objective of this research was to provide recommendations to better support women's journey with COPD. This can be done by looking at important topics emphasized by our participants. The first is to improve awareness around COPD. Many women described a lack of awareness of COPD by friends and family once they were diagnosed. They also described their own lack of awareness prior to being diagnosed. While many people know smoking is a risk factor for lung cancer a lot of the population does not know about COPD and its effects on the body (Roche, 2016). Not only is there a lack of awareness in the public but also among physicians and patients with the disease surrounding risk factors and gender considerations (Sunblad et al., 2011; Roche, 2016; Baiardini et al., 2018). Increasing public awareness is the first step to better support for women with COPD as it gives more knowledge and power to patients, specifically women to be able to ask for diagnostic tests and treatments (Ramachandran et al., 2016). As well, acknowledging this lack of awareness can help providers understand how to discuss information and other topics surrounding COPD with their patients to hopefully bridge the knowledge gap we are seeing (Ramachandran et al., 2016). We can look to other disease campaigns that increased awareness of women's health such as heart disease and diabetes (Long et al., 2008; George et al., 2016). Participants in our study frequently cited these diseases as having the type of awareness they think COPD needs for women.

In a similar vein, educating the public on COPD is recommended. There is a lot of talk about information or lack thereof being received by the participants in this study. This lack of information as mentioned above creates mistrust between patients and providers and invites fear and frustration around the disease. For these reasons, a lot of the women in our study emphasized a need for more education surrounding COPD to the public, patients, and physicians. Instead of just being provided with information it is important to learn about the disease and self-management (Stoilkova-Hartmann et al., 2018). This can go hand in hand with awareness, once we are able to make the population more aware we can educate them on COPD risk factors and other considerations such as gender, which is focused on in this study. Ultimately, it starts with education and awareness of COPD and COPD in women to get started towards better support for women's journeys with COPD.

5.2 Unique contributions to the literature

Several studies show the sex differences between males and females in the presentation and risk factors for COPD (Silveyra et al., 2021, Gut-Gobert et al., 2019, Rogliani et al., 2022). As well, there is research to show a gender bias in the care that is provided to women with COPD (Chapman et al., 2003). We can see in the literature that there is a higher chance of misdiagnosis, less time with providers, and greater risk for anxiety and depression in women with COPD. Considering our ageing population and the greater risk for more cases of COPD it is an important issue to consider. However, there is a gap in the literature on women's experiences with COPD through diagnosis and treatment as told by them. This study added the specific context of women and their COPD experiences to the literature. This allowed us to share the voice of the women who participated on their experiences, ways to improve their COPD journeys and how we can provide better support. Listening to their stories and learning about their desires allowed us to highlight important topics we can use to provide recommendations to better support women's journeys with COPD. These recommendations included more education and awareness of COPD for the public. There has not been a study of this kind done to explore the experiences of women with COPD through their diagnosis and treatment journey. This study adds to the literature real examples of women's experiences gained through their stories and ideas for how they would like their experiences to be improved.

5.3 Reflexivity

The importance of keeping a reflexive journal to the quality of research can be outlined by Tracy (2008). Keeping a reflexive journal allowed me to reflect on this journey and help me to grow as a researcher. Using a reflexive journal allowed me to take my bias and pre-understanding and use it to guide my research as suggested by van Manen (1997) when doing phenomenology. I first laid out my position within this research as a woman researcher interested in COPD care, with a family member with COPD who has had issues receiving a diagnosis and subsequent treatment. Acknowledging this in my reflexive journal gave me the freedom to use this bias and preunderstanding throughout my research and analysis. It also allowed me to better connect with the participants I was interviewing, which lends to my ability to perform qualitative research.

Throughout this process I noticed participants were very willing to share their stories, feelings, and opinions with me on their experiences with COPD. Often participants would acknowledge their desire to help contribute to this research and to spread awareness for COPD. This made me realize that not only does my study contribute to the greater research but allowed these women to share their experiences with the public. I did not understand the importance of this to my participants prior to this research and I think it should be emphasized when talking about the future of patient-centered care.

Finally, my reflexive journal allowed me to acknowledge and explore feelings that I felt during the process and everything I learned. It also allowed me to record feelings during the interviews that cannot be seen in just the transcripts which was important to my analysis. An example of this was during a committee meeting I had. My committee members were not exactly sure how some of the themes I described would fit into the project and suggested that maybe they be taken out. I was able to use my reflexive journal and field notes to describe to them the emphasis that was placed on certain topics by participants that explained why I felt these themes were important to the objectives of this study.

5.4 Limitations

While there were measures taken in line with the literature to ensure quality and rigour consistent with the methodologies used there are a few limitations worth noting. One limitation is the lack of observation to accompany the interviews conducted. To truly know a phenomenon is to immerse yourself into the experience with participants (van Manen, 1997). While conducting one-on-one interviews provides a depth of insight into the experience, it may not provide all the information. A limitation to this study is that there is no observation of the phenomenon. This is due to the feasibility of observing patients with providers, as well as the limits to providing privacy to participants and their medical consultations and information. As well, the logistics and timing of completing this study do not allow for extended observation of the phenomenon.

Another limitation is the social desirability bias that comes with interviews. While one-on-one interviews provide the opportunity for participants to share their experiences without the influence of other individuals with similar stories, there is always still a chance of social desirability bias. This phenomenon is when participants answer questions in certain ways to

make themselves look good, as per social context (Bergen and Labonte, 2020). This would have an impact on the data by not providing accurate answers to questions. To resolve this the interviewer provided positive feedback to participants throughout the interview (Bergen and Labonte, 2020). However, this phenomenon cannot be controlled completely and therefore is noted by the researchers as a possible limitation to the study.

It is possible that these findings can be generalized to the other women with COPD or other chronic diseases. However, given the small sample size and the nature of phenomenological research it is not definitive whether they are generalizable. This is also noted to be a limitation of the study.

This study explores women's experiences through their COPD journey through a critical theory lens. This research focuses on the gender constructs that influence these journey's. However, we did not delve into other systems that influence one's experiences, such as, socio-economic status and race. This is identified as a potential limitation, given the capacity of myself as the researcher, the literature on COPD, and the sensitivity of such topics questions surrounding thee systems were omitted from the interviews.

Lastly, while this research focuses on improving experiences for women, we did not interview men, therefore, we cannot know the differences for sure. This would be something to explore in future research.

5.5 Summary

This chapter discussed the findings of this research and how they align or differ from current literature on COPD. This study was effective in answering the research question: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD? The findings demonstrate that women have a variety of experiences through their COPD journeys, but commonalities can be seen in the diagnosis, lack of information, desire to be more involved, and appreciation of PR programs, among others. These experiences impact the quality of life of women with COPD and their perspective on their disease. Current research lacks the voices of women on their specific experiences with COPD through their diagnosis and treatment journeys.

The findings of this study explore these experiences and provide recommendations based on women's opinions to improve support for their COPD journey.

This research fills a gap in the literature surrounding COPD and patient experiences. This was done by providing a unique perspective and voice of women to the literature on COPD experiences and what patients believe will improve their journeys. The next chapter will discuss the implications of these findings for practice and policy and provide recommendations for future research.

Chapter 6

6 Significance and Conclusions

This chapter provides the final considerations and conclusions concerning the overall research question; What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD?

6.1 Implications for practice

Although COPD is an important issue worldwide, women's voices are not being considered in the research and advancement of care (Chapman et al., 2001, Gut-Gobert et al., 2019). This research demonstrated the importance of exploring lived experiences of those with COPD and listening to their wants and needs in terms of their journey through diagnosis and treatment. Through our understanding of these experiences, we can better support women through their journeys with COPD based on their wants and needs. Women in this study spoke about a lack of information from providers, the importance of pulmonary rehabilitation (PR) to them, and a lack of mental health support, among others. They expressed a need for these things to change and a want to be consulted and more involved in their treatment. This research also highlighted the struggles that come with COPD and the importance of good care to improve quality of life and patient-provider relationships in chronic disease management. We can adjust the practices currently in place for some women based off the opinions and voices explored in this research study. The participants in this study highlighted more support, more information, and involvement in their treatment plans as important aspects of what better care looks like to them. This provides us with specific action items to better support women with COPD. We can inform providers of these findings to allow them to better meet the needs of their patients. This research highlighted that to better support women through their COPD journey we need to take into consideration their experiences and apply what we have learned to practice.

6.2 Implications for policy

While this research focused on the specific experiences of the women in this study, we can use the topics that were emphasized by them to create recommendations for the future of COPD care and management. These topics include awareness and education. This research highlighted the lack of awareness and education surrounding COPD in the public, patients, and providers. Participants in the study acknowledge their own lack of awareness prior to being diagnosed and their perception of others awareness based on the way they were treated by family, friends, and providers. It is important to create more awareness and in turn more education of COPD to emphasize the seriousness of the disease. As well, creating awareness allows for more funding opportunities for future research on disease and care practices. This study also highlighted the importance of awareness for COPD in women. Similar to campaigns for other diseases, it is important for the public, patients, and providers to understand the potential differences between men and women with COPD and to bring attention to COPD in women, as in previous decades it was largely seen in men. Policymakers should include awareness and education of COPD in women included in all COPD education programs for nurses, physicians, respirologists, and other providers that interact with individuals with COPD. As well, creating awareness campaigns for the public to educate them on COPD in women and reduce the stigma against those with the disease.

6.3 Recommendations for future research

This study presented the experiences of twelve women with COPD through their diagnosis and treatment journeys. This study highlighted the importance of awareness for COPD and women and the potential to improve care practices. There were important findings from participant interviews that would be important to explore further to improve chronic disease management of COPD. This first area is pulmonary rehabilitation (PR), many participants discussed the benefits of these programs, but it was touched on that there is a lack of accessibility. This can be seen in the literature and would be important to explore further. We can see the immense benefits PR presents to individuals with COPD and exploring the accessibility issue can allow us to develop solutions. Another important finding was the need for more support within treatment and in general for the participants. It would be important to investigate the types of support that work for COPD patients and what good support looks like to individuals with COPD more in depth. Lastly, in terms of gender considerations for COPD, understanding the differences in care

received by men and women would be important to improve care for all with COPD and close some of the gap faced by marginalized populations.

6.4 Conclusion

This research aimed to answer the following question: What are the lived experiences of women with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) regarding their diagnosis and treatment, and how do these experiences shape their journey with COPD? This study used van Manen's phenomenology guided by a critical theory paradigm. This was beneficial to understand the lived experiences of women with COPD through the diagnosis and treatment and to explore ways to improve their journey with COPD to create recommendations for better support. This research used one-on-one semi-structured interviews with women with COPD who had/have experienced some form of treatment. Data collection and analysis was iterative and continuous and was guided by van Manen's thematic analysis.

In total there were 12 participants in my study. Findings were analyzed using van Manen's thematic analysis and showed that ten main themes emerged from the data. These themes were: 1) waiting and wondering, 2) seeking information, 3) adjusting to the disease, 4) interacting with providers, 5) adapting daily life, 6) navigating the system, 7) to be understood by providers, 8) to be treated holistically, 9) improving awareness around COPD, and 10) educating the public on COPD.

The findings showed that everyone had a unique experience through diagnosis and treatment of COPD. There were aspects that were common amongst the women in this study, such as waiting time before diagnosis, a lack of information, and stigma against their COPD. These experiences helped us gain insight into the care that is being received compared to the care that is wanted from these women. The importance of information, a timely diagnosis, and provider engagement to the quality of life of women with COPD were identified. The benefits of pulmonary rehabilitation programs throughout the progression of their disease and the increased knowledge about disease management from theses programs was demonstrated, despite the lack of access to these programs. Participants emphasized the need for more information from care providers, the patient involvement in creation of treatment plans, and more support in all forms, such as, mental health. Achieving good care would allow these women living with COPD to feel more confident

in their self-management of the disease, improve their relationship with their provider, and improve their quality of life. Finally, this research provided insight into the need for more awareness and education that has allowed us to create recommendations for better care. Improving education on women with COPD and creating awareness campaigns can help support women through their COPD journeys and reduce the blame/stigma that comes with COPD from the public.

This research fills a gap in the literature about patient experiences of women living with COPD. By sharing their voice, we presented what women want to help change the way care and support are provided to women through their COPD journeys.

References

- Agustí, A., Celli, B. R., Criner, G. J., Halpin, D., Anzueto, A., Barnes, P., Bourbeau, J., Han, M. K., Martinez, F. J., Montes de Oca, M., Mortimer, K., Papi, A., Pavord, I., Roche, N., Salvi, S., Sin, D. D., Singh, D., Stockley, R., López Varela, M. V., ... Vogelmeier, C. F. (2023). Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease 2023 Report: GOLD Executive Summary. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 207(7), 819–837. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.202301-0106PP
- Agustí, A., Melén, E., DeMeo, D. L., Breyer-Kohansal, R., & Faner, R. (2022).

 Pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Understanding the contributions of gene–environment interactions across the lifespan. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 10(5), 512–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00555-5
- Alwakeel, A. J., Sicondolfo, A., Robitaille, C., Bourbeau, J., & Saad, N. (2022). The Accessibility, Feasibility, and Safety of a Standardized Community-based Tele-Pulmonary Rehab Program for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: A 3-Year Real-World Prospective Study. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, *19*(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1513/AnnalsATS.202006-638OC
- Aranda, K. (2017). Feminist Theories and Concepts in Healthcare: An Introduction for Qualitative Research. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Arne, M., Emtner, M., Janson, S., & Wilde-Larsson, B. (2007). COPD patients' perspectives at the time of diagnosis: A qualitative study. *Primary Care Respiratory Journal*, 16(4), 215–221. https://doi.org/10.3132/pcrj.2007.00033
- Baiardini, I., Rogliani, P., Santus, P., Corsico, A. G., Contoli, M., Scichilone, N., Di Marco, F., Lessi, P., Scognamillo, C., Molinengo, G., Ferri, F., Patella, V., Fiorentino, G., Carone, M., & Braido, F. (2018). Disease awareness in patients with COPD:
 Measurement and extent. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 14, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S179784

- Barnes, P. J. (2016). Sex Differences in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

 Mechanisms. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 193(8),
 813–814. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201512-2379ED
- Bergen, N., & Labonté, R. (2020). "Everything Is Perfect, and We Have No Problems": Detecting and Limiting Social Desirability Bias in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 30(5), 783–792. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319889354
- Berger, B. E., Kapella, M. C., & Larson, J. L. (2011). *The Experience of Stigma in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945910384602
- Bevan, M. T. (2014). A Method of Phenomenological Interviewing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24(1), 136–144. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732313519710
- Blanc, P. D., Iribarren, C., Trupin, L., Earnest, G., Katz, P. P., Balmes, J., Sidney, S., & Eisner, M. D. (2009). Occupational exposures and the risk of COPD: Dusty trades revisited. *Thorax*, 64(1), 6–12. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.2008.099390
- Boström, M., Lidskog, R., & Uggla, Y. (2017). A reflexive look at reflexivity in environmental sociology. *Environmental Sociology*, *3*(1), 6–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/23251042.2016.1237336
- Chapman, K. R., Bourbeau, J., & Rance, L. (2003). The burden of COPD in Canada:

 Results from the confronting COPD survey. *Respiratory Medicine*, 97, S23–S31.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0954-6111(03)80022-7
- Chapman, K. R., Tashkin, D. P., & Pye, D. J. (2001). Gender Bias in the Diagnosis of COPD. *CHEST*, *119*(6), 1691–1695. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.119.6.1691
- Csikesz, N. G., & Gartman, E. J. (2014). New developments in the assessment of COPD: Early diagnosis is key. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 9, 277–286. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S46198
- Dowling, M. (2007). From Husserl to van Manen. A review of different phenomenological approaches. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 44(1), 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2005.11.026
- Earnest, M. A. (2002). Explaining adherence to supplemental oxygen therapy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 17(10), 749–755. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2002.20218.x

- Gardener, A. C., Ewing, G., Kuhn, I., & Farquhar, M. (2018). Support needs of patients with COPD: A systematic literature search and narrative review. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 13, 1021–1035. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S155622
- George, K. S., Roberts, C. B., Beasley, S., Fox, M., & Rashied-Henry, K. (2016). Our Health Is in Our Hands: A Social Marketing Campaign to Combat Obesity and Diabetes. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0890117116639559
- Giacomini, M., DeJean, D., Simeonov, D., & Smith, A. (2012). Experiences of Living and Dying With COPD. *Ontario Health Technology Assessment Series*, *12*(13), 1–47.
- Goërtz, Y. M. J., Looijmans, M., Prins, J. B., Janssen, D. J. A., Thong, M. S. Y., Peters, J. B., Burtin, C., Meertens-Kerris, Y., Coors, A., Muris, J. W. M., Sprangers, M. A. G., Wouters, E. F. M., Vercoulen, J. H., & Spruit, M. A. (2018). Fatigue in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Protocol of the Dutch multicentre, longitudinal, observational FAntasTIGUE study. *BMJ Open*, 8(4), e021745. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021745
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In *Handbook of qualitative research (1st edition)* (pp. 105–117). Sage.
- Gupta, M., Madabushi, J. S., & Gupta, N. (n.d.). Critical Overview of Patriarchy, Its Interferences With Psychological Development, and Risks for Mental Health. *Cureus*, *15*(6), e40216. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.40216
- Gut-Gobert, C., Cavaillès, A., Dixmier, A., Guillot, S., Jouneau, S., Leroyer, C., Marchand-Adam, S., Marquette, D., Meurice, J.-C., Desvigne, N., Morel, H., Person-Tacnet, C., & Raherison, C. (2019). Women and COPD: Do we need more evidence?
 European Respiratory Review: An Official Journal of the European Respiratory
 Society, 28(151), 180055. https://doi.org/10.1183/16000617.0055-2018
- Halding, A.-G., Heggdal, K., & Wahl, A. (2011). Experiences of self-blame and stigmatisation for self-infliction among individuals living with COPD. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 25(1), 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6712.2010.00796.x

- Halpin, D. M., Decramer, M., Celli, B., Kesten, S., Liu, D., & Tashkin, D. P. (2012).
 Exacerbation frequency and course of COPD. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 7, 653–661. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S34186
- Husson, O., Mols, F., & van de Poll-Franse, L. V. (2011). The relation between information provision and health-related quality of life, anxiety and depression among cancer survivors: A systematic review. *Annals of Oncology*, 22(4), 761–772. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdq413
- Johansson, E. E., Hamberg, K., Lindgren, G., & Westman, G. (1996). "I've been crying my way"—Qualitative analysis of a group of female patients' consultation experiences.

 Family Practice, 13(6), 498–503. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/13.6.498
- Johns, D. P., Walters, J. A. E., & Walters, E. H. (2014). Diagnosis and early detection of COPD using spirometry. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 6(11), 1557–1569. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2014.08.18
- Kent, B. D., Mitchell, P., & McNicholas, W. (2011). Full article: Hypoxemia in patients with COPD: cause, effects, and disease progression. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.2147/COPD.S10611
- Kincheloe, J., McLaren, P., Steinberg, S., & Monzó, L. (2017). Critical Pedagogy and Qualitative Research: Advancing the Bricolage. *Education Faculty Books and Book Chapters*. https://digitalcommons.chapman.edu/education_books/43
- Kuo-Chen, L., Chang-Hsuan, P., Snell, L., Wang, X., Huang, C.-D., & Saroyan, A. (2021). Understanding the lived experiences of medical learners in a narrative medicine course: A phenomenological study. *BMC Medical Education*, 21, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-02741-5
- Labonté, L. E., Tan, W. C., Li, P. Z., Mancino, P., Aaron, S. D., Benedetti, A., Chapman, K. R., Cowie, R., FitzGerald, J. M., Hernandez, P., Maltais, F., Marciniuk, D. D., O'Donnell, D., Sin, D., & Bourbeau, J. (2016). Undiagnosed Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Contributes to the Burden of Health Care Use. Data from the CanCOLD Study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 194(3), 285–298. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201509-1795OC

- Lamberton, C. E., & Mosher, C. L. (2024). Review of the Evidence for Pulmonary Rehabilitation in COPD: Clinical Benefits and Cost-Effectiveness. *Respiratory Care*, 69(6), 686–696. https://doi.org/10.4187/respcare.11541
- Li, H., Gao, T., Fang, W., Xian-Yu, C., Deng, N., Zhang, C., & Niu, Y. (2023). Global, regional and national burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease over a 30-year period: Estimates from the 1990 to 2019 Global Burden of Disease Study. *Respirology (Carlton, Vic.)*, 28(1), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/resp.14349
- Lindgren, S., Storli, S. L., & Wiklund-Gustin, L. (2014). Living in negotiation: Patients' experiences of being in the diagnostic process of COPD. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 9, 441–451. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S60182
- Long, T., Taubenheim, A. M., Wayman, J., Temple, S., & Ruoff, B. A. (2008). *The Heart Truth: Using the Power of Branding and Social Marketing to Increase Awareness of Heart Disease in Women*. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15245000802279334
- Lopez-Campos, J. L., Bustamante, V., Muñoz, X., & Barreiro, E. (2014). Moving Towards Patient-Centered Medicine for COPD Management: Multidimensional Approaches versus Phenotype-Based Medicine—A Critical View. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 11(5), 591–602. https://doi.org/10.3109/15412555.2014.898035
- Macrae, H. (2018). 'My opinion is that doctors prefer younger people': Older women, physicians and ageism. *Ageing & Society*, *38*(2), 240–266. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X16001021
- Mannino, D. M., Homa, D. M., Akinbami, L. J., Ford, E. S., & Redd, S. C. (2002). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease surveillance—United States, 1971-2000. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries (Washington, D.C.: 2002)*, 51(6), 1–16.
- Martinez, C. H., Raparla, S., Plauschinat, C. A., Giardino, N. D., Rogers, B., Beresford, J., Bentkover, J. D., Schachtner-Appel, A., Curtis, J. L., Martinez, F. J., & Han, M. K. (2012). Gender Differences in Symptoms and Care Delivery for Chronic Obstructive

- Pulmonary Disease. *Journal of Women's Health*, *21*(12), 1267–1274. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2012.3650
- Mills, M. E., & Sullivan, K. (1999). The importance of information giving for patients newly diagnosed with cancer: A review of the literature. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 8(6), 631–642. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2702.1999.00296.x
- Paradis, E., Nimmon, L., Wondimagegn, D., & Whitehead, C. R. (2020). Critical Theory:
 Broadening Our Thinking to Explore the Structural Factors at Play in Health
 Professions Education. *Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 95(6), 842–845.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000000003108
- Pirie, K., Peto, R., & Beral, V. (2013). The first generation in which many women began smoking Authors' reply. *The Lancet*, *381*(9876), 1455–1456. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60919-8
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2005). Qualitative research in counseling psychology: A primer on research paradigms and philosophy of science. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 126–136. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.126
- Postma, D., Anzueto, A., Calverley, P., Jenkins, C., Make, B. J., Sciurba, F. C., Similowski, T., van der Molen, T., & Eriksson, G. (2011). A new perspective on optimal care for patients with COPD. *Primary Care Respiratory Journal*, 20(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.4104/pcrj.2011.00041
- Rabe, K. F., & Watz, H. (2017). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *The Lancet*, 389(10082), 1931–1940. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31222-9
- Ramachandran, H. J., Wu, V. X., Kowitlawakul, Y., & Wang, W. (2016). Awareness, knowledge and healthy lifestyle behaviors related to coronary heart disease among women: An integrative review. *Heart & Lung*, 45(3), 173–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrtlng.2016.02.004
- Ramsey, S. D., & Sullivan, S. D. (2004). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Is there a case for early intervention? *The American Journal of Medicine Supplements*, 117(12, Supplement 1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2004.10.016

- Ritchie, A. I., & Wedzicha, J. A. (2020). Definition, Causes, Pathogenesis, and Consequences of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Exacerbations. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*, 41(3), 421–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccm.2020.06.007
- Roche, N. (2016). The need to increase awareness of the risk factors of COPD. *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine*, 10(7), 733–737. https://doi.org/10.1080/17476348.2016.1180981
- Rogliani. (n.d.). Sex differences in adult asthma and COPD therapy: A systematic review / Respiratory Research / Full Text. Retrieved June 27, 2024, from https://respiratory-research.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12931-022-02140-4
- Sadhra, S., Kurmi, O. P., Sadhra, S. S., Lam, K. B. H., & Ayres, J. G. (2017). Occupational COPD and job exposure matrices: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 12, 725–734.

 https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S125980
- Sagana, R. L., Wesorick, D. H., Byrne, B. T., Fitzgerald, L. J., Georgia, T. E., Mack, M., Wesorick, D., & Proudlock, A. (2022). Care of the Hospitalized Patient with Acute Exacerbation of COPD. Michigan Medicine University of Michigan. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK582288/
- Schwandt, T. A. (n.d.). Farewell to Criteriology—Thomas A. Schwandt, 1996. Retrieved June 27, 2024, from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/107780049600200109
- Sigurgeirsdottir, J., Halldorsdottir, S., Arnardottir, R. H., Gudmundsson, G., & Bjornsson, E. H. (2019). COPD patients' experiences, self-reported needs, and needs-driven strategies to cope with self-management. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 14, 1033–1043. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S201068
- Silveyra, P., Fuentes, N., & Rodriguez Bauza, D. (2021). Sex and Gender Differences in Lung Disease. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *1304*, 227–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-68748-9_14
- Simpson, E., & Jones, M. C. (2013). An exploration of self-efficacy and self-management in COPD patients. *British Journal of Nursing*, 22(19), 1105–1109. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2013.22.19.1105

- Spruit, M. A., Burtin, C., De Boever, P., Langer, D., Vogiatzis, I., Wouters, E. F. M., & Franssen, F. M. E. (2016). COPD and exercise: Does it make a difference? *Breathe*, 12(2), e38–e49. https://doi.org/10.1183/20734735.003916
- Stoilkova-Hartmann, A., Franssen, F. M. E., Augustin, I. M. L., Wouters, E. F. M., & Barnard, K. D. (2018). COPD patient education and support Achieving patient-centredness. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 101(11), 2031–2036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.05.024
- Sun, Y., & Zhou, J. (2019). New insights into early intervention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with mild airflow limitation. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 14, 1119–1125. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S205382
- Sundblad, B.-M., Larsson, K., & Nathell, L. (2008). Low awareness of COPD among physicians. *The Clinical Respiratory Journal*, 2(1), 11–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-699X.2007.00020.x
- Tabler, J., Scammon, D., Kim, J., Farrell, T., Tomoaia-Cotisel, A., & Magill, M. (2014).
 Patient care experiences and perceptions of the patient-provider relationship: A mixed method study. *Patient Experience Journal*, 1(1), 75–87.
 https://doi.org/10.35680/2372-0247.1012
- Tashkin, D. P., Altose, M. D., Connett, J. E., Kanner, R. E., Lee, W. W., & Wise, R. A. (1996). Methacholine reactivity predicts changes in lung function over time in smokers with early chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The Lung Health Study Research Group. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 153(6 Pt 1), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.153.6.8665038
- Thun, M. J., Carter, B. D., Feskanich, D., Freedman, N. D., Prentice, R., Lopez, A. D., Hartge, P., & Gapstur, S. M. (2013). 50-year trends in smoking-related mortality in the United States. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 368(4), 351–364. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa1211127
- Townsend, E. A., Miller, V. M., & Prakash, Y. S. (2012). Sex differences and sex steroids in lung health and disease. *Endocrine Reviews*, *33*(1), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2010-0031

- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative Quality: Eight "Big-Tent" Criteria for Excellent Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *16*(10), 837–851. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410383121
- van der Meide, H., Teunissen, T., Visser, L. H., & Visse, M. (2020). Trapped in my lungs and fighting a losing battle. A phenomenological study of patients living with chronic obstructive and pulmonary disease. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 34(1), 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12713
- Van Manen, M. (n.d.). From Meaning to Method—Max van Manen, 1997. Retrieved June 27, 2024, from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/104973239700700303
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching Lived Experience: Human Science for an Action Sensitive Pedagogy. SUNY Press.
- Viniol, C., & Vogelmeier, C. F. (2018). Exacerbations of COPD. *European Respiratory Review*, 27(147). https://doi.org/10.1183/16000617.0103-2017
- Welte, T., Vogelmeier, C., & Papi, A. (2015). COPD: Early diagnosis and treatment to slow disease progression. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 69(3), 336–349. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.12522
- Werner, A., & Malterud, K. (2003). It is hard work behaving as a credible patient:

 Encounters between women with chronic pain and their doctors. *Social Science & Medicine*, 57(8), 1409–1419. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00520-8
- Westerik, J. A. M., Metting, E. I., van Boven, J. F. M., Tiersma, W., Kocks, J. W. H., & Schermer, T. R. (2017). Associations between chronic comorbidity and exacerbation risk in primary care patients with COPD. *Respiratory Research*, *18*, 31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-017-0512-2
- WHO. (2023). *Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-(copd)
- Wong, S. S., Abdullah, N., Abdullah, A., Liew, S.-M., Ching, S.-M., Khoo, E.-M., Jiwa, M., & Chia, Y.-C. (2014). Unmet needs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): A qualitative study on patients and doctors. *BMC Family Practice*, 15(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-15-67

Yohannes, A. M., & Alexopoulos, G. S. (2014). Depression and anxiety in patients with COPD. *European Respiratory Review*, 23(133), 345–349. https://doi.org/10.1183/09059180.00007813

Zysman, M., & Raherison-Semjen, C. (2022). Women's COPD. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 8, 600107. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.600107

Appendices

Appendix A: Interview guide

Interview Guide for Women Living with COPD

Hi good morning/afternoon.

My name is Madeline. I am a master's student working with Dr. Shannon Sibbald, from Western University. I am interviewing women on their experiences with COPD. Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. You should have received a letter of information and consent form. Do you have any questions about the information in the letter and have you signed this form?

Today we will talk about your experiences of women with COPD for my research study. The goal of the study is to explore these lived experiences, gain an understanding of what optimal and equitable care looks like to women, and provide recommendations for better care.

The interview will last up to an hour.

The interview will be audio recorded. Everything that you say will be confidential and all data collected will be anonymous. Please keep in mind, your participation is voluntary, and you can decide to stop at any time. (they can decide to skip any or all questions, decline to answer any or end their interview at any point in time).

Do you have any questions? I will need to audio-record our meeting so that I can type out a verbatim transcript of our discussion. Only the audio will be recorded for this interview if you choose to turn your camera on the video will not be recorded. Your name will not appear on that document nor will your name be associated with any responses you may make today during our interview.

May I start the recording?

First, I would like to ask some general questions to get to know you better, only answer those you are comfortable with.

- 1. How are you doing today?
- 2. How old are you?
- 3. Did you smoke?

PROBE: Would you describe yourself as a smoker?

4. How long have you been diagnosed?

5. How would you describe the severity of your disease?

Probe: has your doctor or healthcare provider ever described the severity of your disease to you?

If so, how was it described? Do you know your GOLD classification (based on air flow

limitations)? For your information a GOLD classification is based on the frequency and severity

of your symptoms. Your practitioner may have assigned you a classification to track the progress

of your disease.

(GOLD 1 - mild: FEV1 ≥80% predicted, GOLD 2 - moderate: 50% ≤ FEV1 <80% predicted,

GOLD 3 - severe: 30% \le FEV1 <50% predicted, GOLD 4 - very severe: FEV1 <30% predicted)

In the next set of questions, I would like to ask about your diagnosis. The purpose is to help

me better understand this journey for you.

6. Can you tell me the story of your diagnosis.

Probe: Who diagnosed you with COPD?

Probe: How did you connect with this Health Care Provider?

Probe: Can you describe them?

Probe: When were you diagnosed?

7. Can you describe what that diagnosis process was like for you?

Probe: How did you feel about the diagnosis- at the time of diagnosis? In

subsequent visits

Probe: What did you think about when you were diagnosed?

67

Probe: What symptoms did you have?

Probe: What symptoms led you to seek out care?

Probe: What was your experience at that health care appointment like? What was

the feel of the appointment?

Probe: What caused you or the physician who diagnosed you to lead to this

diagnosis?

Probe: if you could change one thing about the diagnosis process, what would it

be?

8. Were you given a spirometry test? For your knowledge a spirometry test is a test given to

look at your lung function. The practitioner would have given you a tube attached to a

machine to breathe deeply into and record your forced vital capacity.

Probe: where? How many?

9. What was your life like after you were diagnosed?

Probe: What lifestyle changes did you make, if any?

10. Have you been into the hospital or ER for your COPD?

Probe: Describe that experience.

In the next set of questions, I would like to focus on your treatment.

11. Describe what happened after your diagnosis.

Probe: Was a treatment plan made?

Probe: Were you consulted on this plan?

68

Probe: What types of treatment was proposed?

Probe: How did you feel after?

Probe: How soon after did the treatment start?

12. Tell me about your COPD treatment.

13. Describe your care team

Probe: best parts? Worst parts?

Probe: What works well? What doesn't?

Probe: How do you feel about your care team? Would you recommend it to

others?

Prove: If you could change one thing about your care team what would it be?

Probe: who provides you care?

Probe: how many providers do you see?

Probe: do your providers talk to one another

In the next set of questions, I would like to focus on equitable care experiences.

14. What did you like or did not like about your care?

15. Is there anything you would change about your COPD care journey?

16. How would you describe your overall experience with just one word.

17. Is there any else about your experiences of diagnosis and treatment that you would like to share that we haven't had a chance to talk about today?

Thank you for your time and patience today in answering these questions.

Appendix B: Table with themes and subthemes

Objectives	Theme	Subtheme
1) Experiences through	Waiting and wondering	Pre-diagnosis
diagnosis and		Diagnosis
treatment	Seeking information	Lack of information provided
		Doing your own research
		Receiving information
	Adjusting to the disease	Resilience
		Blame and stigma
	Interacting with providers	Engagement from provider
		Different Priorities
		Advocacy
		Changes to treatment
	Adapting daily life	Breathlessness
		Forced lifestyle change
		Mental health
	Navigating the system	N/A
2) What women want	To be understood by providers	Proactive information sharing
from their COPD care		Acknowledgement of needs
	To be treated holistically	Enhance confidence
		Wrap around support
3) Recommendations for	Improving awareness around	N/A
better care for women	COPD	
with COPD	Educating the public on	N/A
	COPD	

Curriculum Vitae

Madeline Dougherty

Education

B. HSc., Honours – Rehabilitation Sciences

Sept. 2018 - April

2022

Western University London, ON

MSc., Health Promotion Sept. 2022 – May 2024

Western University London, ON

Professional Certifications

Evaluating Knowledge Translation Strategies in Public Health (2022)

National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools

Introduction to Evidence-Informed Decision Making (2022)

National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools

Tri-Council Policy Statement 2 Certification (2022)

Panel

on Research Ethics

Teaching Assistant Training Certification (2022)

Western University Centre for Teaching and Learning

Conference Participation

Re-evaluating Experiences in Rehabilitation presenter. Western University, London, Ontario, January 2023

London Health Research Day presenter. Western University, London, Ontario, June 2023

Trillium Primary Care Conference presenter. Toronto, Ontario, October 2023

Better Breathing Week presenter. Lung Health Foundation. Toronto, Ontario, January 2024

Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Conference presenter. Western University, London, Ontario, February 2024

Research Experience

Research Assistant

May 2023 – Present

Western University

London, ON

Working with Dr. Anita Kothari at Western University on two scoping reviews. One review is in the field of social prescribing and the other is in the field of scaling science.

- Conducted two comprehensive scoping reviews in the fields of social prescribing and scaling science, demonstrated expertise in systematic literature searches, data extraction, and synthesis.
- Currently publishing a scoping review protocol as first author for our scoping review on social prescribing.
- Organized and facilitated multiple meetings to progress both research projects and coordinated large research teams.

Research & Evaluation Assistant

Sept. 2021 – April 2022

Alliance for Healthier Communities

Toronto, ON

Participated on a team of six researchers that oversaw multiple projects including analyzing the implementation of social prescribing and research on the equity of the Covid-19 vaccine.

- Successfully completed multiple literature reviews on various topics including loneliness and isolation in seniors, effectiveness of social prescribing, and equity of the Covid-19 vaccine distribution
- Effectively put together a report and presented findings on the literature reviews to the research team and stakeholders

Work Experience

Quality Coordinator

May 2019 – August 2022

MediResource Inc.

Toronto, ON

- Effectively performed quality analysis on the company's digital health website that enhanced the usability of the site for clients.
- Updated and published drug and disease articles to the company's database for use by clients such as Shopper's Drug Mart that updated them on new information
- Successfully deployed the company's digital health and fitness website; updated new features and fixed bugs to the final product that created a user-friendly site for clients
- Head the social committee that successfully put on group gatherings to increase the company moral

Teaching Assistant

September 2022 – December 2023

- Successfully instructed group of 60 students weekly to prepare them for the end of term exam; led students through group discussions to assess knowledge and participation
- Developed important professional relationships with students to identify their learning needs and successfully deliver personalized teaching support
- Integral part of creating exam questions and lesson plans for students

Publications

Dougherty M., Tompkins T., Zibrowski E., Cram J., Ashe M.C., Bhaskar L.T., Card K., Godfrey C., Hebert P., Lacombe R., Muhl C., Mulligan K., Mulvale G., Nelson M., Norman M., Symes B., Teare G., Welch V., Kothari A. (Submitted: 2024). Exploring the incorporation of co-production and policy in social prescribing initiatives: a scoping review protocol. *JMIR Protocols*.

Grants

Sibbald S.L., Savundranayagam M., Zibrowski E., **Dougherty M.** Western Faculty Research Development Fund. "The intersectionality of breathlessness and dyspnoea on health experiences of persons living with COPD". \$5680. November 2023.

Sibbald S.L., Savundranayagam M., Nicholson M., Zibrowski E., **Dougherty M.** Lawson Internal Research Fund. "Learning how to breathe: Understanding experiences of patients and caregivers with lung disease". \$19,637. December 2023.

Sibbald S.L., Savundranayagam M., Nicholson M., Zibrowski E., **Dougherty M**. WSS-SSHRC Seed. "How we live and breathe: Understanding experiences of patients with lung disease and their informal caregivers". \$24, 806. December 2023.

Awards

Lung Health Foundation Better Breathing Student Travel Award (2023).

Evaluate MSc Award for presentation at the Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Conference (2024).